
 
 

 
 

 

20 January 2015 

 

 

To: All Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

The above members are requested to attend the:  

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Wednesday, 28 January 2015 at 3.00 pm 

City Learning Centre, Bathurst Avenue, Blackpool 

 

A G E N D A 

 

 

1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 

 Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 

doing so state:  

 

(1) the type of interest concerned; and 

 

(2) the nature of the interest concerned 

 

If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 

the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
2  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 3RD DECEMBER 2014  (Pages 1 - 4) 

 

 To agree the minutes of the last meeting held on 3
rd

 December 2014 as a true and 

correct record. 

 
3  STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING GROUP UPDATE  (Pages 5 - 8) 

 

 To receive a verbal update on issues related to the Strategic Commissioning Group. 

 
4  WINTERBOURNE VIEW CONCORDAT UPDATE  (Pages 9 - 64) 

 

 To update on progress towards achieving the objectives set out in the Winterbourne 

View Concordat since the previous report made on 18 December 2013.  

 

 
 

Public Document Pack



5  NEXT STEPS TO PRIMARY CARE CO-COMMISSIONING  (Pages 65 - 72) 

 

 To receive a report on the NHS England paper “Next Steps towards primary care co-

commissioning” and the implications for Blackpool. 

 
6  DELIVERY OF AFFORDABLE WARMTH INITIATIVES ACROSS BLACKPOOL AND THE 

WIDER LANCASHIRE FOOTPRINT  (Pages 73 - 76) 

 

 To receive an update on affordable warmth initiatives. 

 
7  CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL REPORT 2013/2014  (Pages 77 - 82) 

 

 To receive the report of Pan-Lancashire Child Death Overview Panel.  

 
8  BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE  (Pages 83 - 90) 

 

 To receive an update on the Better Care Fund.  

 
9  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

 

 To note the dates of future meetings as follows:  

 

4th March 2015 

10th June 2015 

 

 
 

Venue information: 

 

First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 

For queries regarding this agenda please contact Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory 

Manager , Tel: 01253 477157 , e-mail: Lennox.beattie@blackpool.gov.uk 
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 

Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 3 DECEMBER 

2014 

 
 

 

Present:  

 

Dr Amanda Doyle, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group, in the Chair 

 

Councillors Clapham and Collett 

 

David Bonson and Roy Fisher, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

Gary Doherty, Chief Executive, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 

 

Richard Emmess, Blackpool Council for Voluntary Services 

 

Dr Arif Rajpura, Director for Public Health, Blackpool Council 

 

Joan Rose, Blackpool Healthwatch 

 

In Attendance:  

 

Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory Support Manager, Blackpool Council 

Venessa Beckett, Corporate Development and Policy Officer, Blackpool Council 

Merle Davies, Head of Early Help for Children and Families, Blackpool Council 

Andy Roach, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

Apologies: 

 

Councillors Blackburn and I Taylor  

Delyth Curtis, Director of People Blackpool Council 

Jane Higgs, NHS England 

Ian Johnson, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 

 

1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

There were no declarations of interest on this occasion.  

 

2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 22ND OCTOBER 2014 

 

Resolved:  

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on the 22
nd

 October 2014 be agreed as a correct 

record.  

 

3 STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING GROUP UPDATE 

 

The Board received an update on the work of the Strategic Commissioning Group 

including the minutes of the meeting held on the 6
th

 November 2014. 

 

 

 Page 1

Agenda Item 2



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 3 DECEMBER 

2014 

 
 

It noted a number of key actions from that meeting were dealt with elsewhere in the 

agenda including the Better Care Fund, Better Start and HeadStart and the development 

of new models of care. 

 

Resolved:  

 

That the update on the Strategic  Commissioning Group be noted.  

 

4 PRESENTATION ON THE BETTER START AND HEADSTART INITIATIVES 

 

Merle Davies, Head of Early Help for Children and Families- Blackpool Council, provided a 

presentation to the Board on the Better Start and Headstart initiatives. 

 

She explained that both initiatives were funded by the Big Lottery fund but were 

separate. 

 

The Better Start initiative was underpinned by the Better Start Partnership lead by the 

NSPCC with the key partners being the Council, the Police and the NHS. The scheme was 

funded by £45 million over ten years to deliver transformed services for 0-3 year olds.  

The strategy had four key components: A public health approach - shifting the curve for 

the whole population, Evidence based interventions - providing more intensive help for 

those who need it, Systems transformation - building shared understanding and shared 

action and Building and sharing learning - creating the Blackpool Centre for Early Child 

Development. 

  

In terms of HeadStart this was a pilot programme lead by the Council to aim to increase 

resilience amongst 10-14 year old. The Council had been selected as one of ten authority 

areas which had been funded with £500,000 to undertake a pilot until December 2015 

and then have the opportunity to submit a further bid for a project over the next five 

years. 

 

Resolved:  

 

To note the presentation on Better Start and HeadStart.  

 

5 END OF LIFE UPDATE 

 

The Board received an update presentation on End of Life care from Catherine Smith, 

Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group.  

 

The presentation included details of initiatives within the last year including the Hospice 

at Home pilot, Care of Dying pathway and Standards for Care Homes. 

 

Resolved:  

 

To note the update on initiatives for End of Life Care.  

 

 

 Page 2



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 3 DECEMBER 

2014 

 
 

 

 

6 BETTER CARE FUND 

 

Andy Roach, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group, provided an update to the Board 

further to the last meeting on the development and submission of the Better Care Fund.  

 

It was highlighted the previously submitted version of the Plan had been approved with 

conditions by the Department for Health.  Work had taken place with partners and in 

consultation with the Government towards a resubmission which had recently taken 

place. 

 

Resolved: 

 

1. To note the update presentation. 

 

2. To note the revised submission of the Better Care Fund. 

 

7 DEVELOPMENT OF NEW MODELS OF CARE- EXTENSIVIST 

 

The Board received an update on the development of the extensivist model of care from 

Andy Roach, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group.  

 

The Board was reminded of the principle behind the development of the new model of 

care centred around a single point of access for services provided both by clinicians and 

non-clinicians providing co-ordinated and pro-active care. The objective being to allow 

patients to manage their own health condition and by extension being empowered to 

improve their own health and wellbeing. Regular contact would take place with a 

healthcoach would make the service feel very different from at present while delivering 

fewer unnecessary outpatient consultants and investigations, and fewer planned and 

unplanned hospital admissions. 

 

It was noted that Phase 1 of implementation would be comprised of two services, at 

Lytham and Moor Park primary care centres, each serving between 500-600 patients. 

 

Resolved:  

 

To note progress to date on the development of new models of care. 

 

8 CHILDREN'S IMPROVEMENT BOARD UPDATE 

 

Merle Davies, Head of Early Help for Children and Families, provided an update to the 

Board on the Children’s Improvement Board.  

 

Merle explained that the Board had been created as a response to the notice to improve 

and the Department for Education intervention following the Oftsed Inspection of 

Children’s Safeguarding in July 2012 when the service was deemed inadequate. 

 

 Page 3



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 3 DECEMBER 

2014 

 
 

The Board developed an improvement plan which subsequently developed into a 

transition plan in November 2013. 

 

On re-inspection by Ofsted in July 2014, the service was judged to require improvement 

so that the Children’s Improvement Board had developed an Improvement Plan.  

 

The plan aimed to address 6 key areas:  

 

1. Performance Management 

2. Quality Assurance 

3. Improving Front Line 

4. Partnership Working 

5. Scrutiny 

6. Communications 

 

 

Resolved:  

 

1.To note the report. 

 

2. To agree that the actions identified in the plan are the right ones to deliver the 

improvements required by Ofsted 

 

3. To support the proposals for future arrangements, including the recommendation that 

the Children’s Partnership takes responsibility for monitoring the overall progress of the 

plan and reporting back to the Health and Wellbeing Board as appropriate. 

 

9 DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

 

To note the dates of future meetings as follows: 

 

28th January 2015 

4th March 2015 

10th June 2015 

 

  
  

  
Chairman 

  
(The meeting ended at 4.50pm ) 

  

Any queries regarding these minutes, please contact: 

Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory Manager 

Tel: 01253 477157 

E-mail: Lennox.beattie@blackpool.gov.uk 

Page 4



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Delyth Curtis, Director of People, Blackpool Council  

Relevant Cabinet Member  

 

Councillor Eddie Collett, Cabinet Member for Public Health 

Date of Meeting  

 

28
th

 January 2015  

 

STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING GROUP UPDATE 
 

1.0 

 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1.1 To receive a verbal update on issues related to the Strategic Commissioning Group. 

 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 

 

2.1 To note the update 

 

3.0 

 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 

 

The Board has as a key responsibility to receive regular updates on the work 

programme of the Strategic Commissioning Group and to review future actions.  

 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 

approved by the Council? 

 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 

budget? 

 

Yes  

3.3 

 

Other alternative options to be considered: 

 

There are no alternative options to be considered 

  

4.0 Council Priority: 

 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is  

 

“Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged”  

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



5.0 Background Information 

 

5.1 

 

 

 

5.2 

 

 

 

 

The next meeting of the Strategic Commissioning Group will take place on the 20
th

 

January 2015, which is after the Health and Wellbeing Board  papers are circulated; 

therefore a verbal update will be given at the meeting. 

 

Agenda items include a review of the governance arrangements for the Strategic 

Commissioning Group, governance arrangements for the Better Care Fund 

Programme Board, the Adults and Children’s Commissioning Strategy, an update on 

the transfer of 0-5 years public health commissioning, and Healthier Lancashire 

5.3 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 

No 

5.4 List of Appendices:  

  

None 

 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 

 

6.1 

 

None  

 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 

 

7.1 

 

None 

 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 

 

8.1 

 

None  

 

9.0 Financial considerations: 

 

9.1 

 

None  

 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 

 

10.1 None  

 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 

11.1 

 

None  

 

 

 

Page 6



12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 

 

12.1 

 

None  

 

13.0 Background papers: 

 

13.1 

 

None  

 

 

  
 

Page 7



 

Page 8



Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Karen Smith, Director of Adult Services, Blackpool Council 

Relevant Cabinet Member: 

 

Councillor Kath Rowson , Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 

Date of Meeting: 

 

28
th

 January 2015 

 

WINTERBOURNE VIEW CONCORDAT UPDATE 
 

1.0 

 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1.1 To update on progress towards achieving the objectives set out in the Winterbourne 

View Concordat since the previous report made on 18 December 2013.  

 

To provide an update on work being undertaken nationally to transform 

commissioning of services for people with learning disabilities.  

 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 

 

2.1 To accept the update and consider the next steps. 

 

3.0 

 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 

 

Health and Wellbeing Boards have a key leadership role to play in ensuring that the 

commitments made in the Winterbourne View Concordat are achieved. 

 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 

approved by the Council? 

 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 

budget? 

 

Yes 

3.3 

 

Other alternative options to be considered: 

 

 None, it is a key role of the Board to ensure that the commitments made in the 

Winterbourne View Concordat are achieved.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



4.0 Council Priority: 

 

4.1 The relevant Council Priorities are 

 

• Safeguard and protect the most vulnerable  

• Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged  

 

5.0 Background Information 

 

5.1 

 

 

 

5.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The history of learning disability services, and of services for those with Autism, 

nationally over the last decades has been littered with a series of scandals, the most 

recent being Winterbourne View 2011.  

 

In December 2012, the Department of Health published the Winterbourne View 

Concordat, a programme of action designed to transform services for people with 

learning disabilities or autism and mental health conditions or behaviours described 

as challenging. A number of partners including NHS England, the Local Government 

Association (LGA), Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) and 

Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS) made a commitment to 

working collaboratively with Clinical Commissioning Groups and Local Authorities to 

achieve the Concordat by 1 June 2014.   

 

The key actions required by the Concordat were as follows: 

Create a register of people placed outside local area in hospital/private 

hospital settings by 31st March 2013. 

 

Undertake a review of those people by 31 May 2013.  

 

Develop plans to move people to appropriate local placements. 

 

Transfer people to community based settings by 1 June 2014.  

 

To put in place a locally agreed joint plan for high quality care and support 

services for people of all ages with challenging behaviour  

 

Local progress  

To complete this work locally a Winterbourne View Project Group was set up 

consisting of representatives from the local authority, Blackpool Clinical 

Commissioning Group, specialist providers and housing associations. The group 

established links with Lancashire and Staffordshire Commissioning Support Unit on 

work being undertaken regionally in relation to Winterbourne; reporting on progress 

to the Learning Disability Partnership Board (for which Winterbourne is a standing 

item) and presenting an annual update to Health and Wellbeing Board and Blackpool 

Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body.   

Page 10



 

5.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.6 

 

5.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.9 

 

 

 

 

 

A register has been completed which provides key information on each individual 

falling under the Winterbourne criteria. In Blackpool there are seven individuals, of 

these:  

 

Five are currently placed within Calderstones 

 

One is in a specialist Learning Disability and Autism provision. 

 

One is in a general acute bed and is due to be moved to a rehab placement in 

mid-January.  

 

 

All have an assigned Case Worker and are appropriately placed and safe.  

 

Following a market mapping exercise, a number of gaps in local provision were 

identified. In relation to Winterbourne the three main areas of concern in Blackpool 

are: 

Having the right service provision in place to bring people back in to the area 

when their placement ceases at Calderstones or other admission 

 

Stopping packages of care breaking down in the community by having a range 

of appropriately skilled providers within the market 

 

Ensuring crisis provision is available for service users with a learning disability 

 

To address these gaps work is currently underway to:  

 

Improve the accommodation mix and offer specialist placements within the 

community. The current mix of properties is not suitable. More modern ways 

of providing a housing stock for people with a learning disability are available 

and being explored. Having appropriate housing may see a saving on care 

packages and improve outcomes for the service user.  

 

Develop a specialist provider framework capable of meeting the needs of 

people with challenging behaviour and complex needs  

 

Develop additional crisis support. Options are currently being explored 

 

The Commissioner for Learning Disabilities within the local authority is leading on 

these areas of work in collaboration with the Head of Commissioning, Blackpool 

Clinical Commissioning Group and the Community Learning Disability Team. Wider 

partners including specialist providers will be involved at key stages in the process.  

 

Page 11



5.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For the seven individuals on the Winterbourne Register,  

 

Initial plans are in place to identify suitable placements locally, including a 

jointly commissioned package with Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group 

for two individuals.  One of these individuals requires a further period of 

specialist intervention within a rehabilitation framework and it has been 

agreed that transfer to a placement will take place in mid-January. 

   

The remaining five are currently appropriately placed and are requiring 

ongoing treatment in either a low or medium secure setting.  It is expected 

that once the gaps in provision are filled the remaining four will be supported 

into appropriate accommodation within 12-18 months. 

 

Given the complex needs of the people involved significant risks of placement 

breakdown, delays and further hospital admissions remain, but every effort 

will be made to ensure a smooth and successful transition. Families/carers are 

involved in all aspects of the process.  

 

At the time of the previous report to the Health and Wellbeing Board, it was 

expected that significant progress would have been made on shifting resources from 

hospital to community settings. However, the focus so far has been on the individual 

service users, future service design and commissioning.  This position is mirrored in 

the majority of localities across the country. Nonetheless it should be recognised that 

a significant amount of work is underway or planned and good progress has been 

made locally to achieve the objectives set out in the Concordat.  

 

The National picture 

Following a series of reviews during 2013/14 undertaken by NHS England on progress 

in delivering the objectives of the Concordat it became clear that the ambition to 

move inpatients from their current hospitals settings including those inappropriately 

placed in hospital to community-based support by 1 June 2014 would not be 

achieved and a more complex process than first anticipated. The number of people 

admitted to inpatient care in the year between September 2013 and September 2014 

was actually greater than those discharged.  

 

This led to the creation of a new Transforming Care Assurance Board set up by the 

Department of Health, jointly chaired by the Care Minister, Norman Lamb, and Gavin 

Harding (National Forum of People with Learning Disabilities). And a multi-

organisation Transforming Care Programme Board developed by NHS England to 

focus on immediate actions as well as future service models. The Board’s key 

ambition is to support the transfer 50% of people who were inpatients at 1 April 2014, 

to the most appropriate setting. 

 

 

Page 12



5.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.15 

 

 

 

 

 

To ensure this ambition is realised across the North of England, NHS England 

Lancashire, has launched a new process for all inpatients known as Care and 

Treatment Reviews (CTRs). The purpose of such a review is to review the experience 

of the inpatient and promote discharge to a community setting wherever possible, or 

transfer to a less-restrictive environment unless clinically indicated otherwise. In 

relation to Blackpool, Care and Treatment Reviews have been completed for all 

eligible inpatients.  

 

Alongside this, NHS England commissioned Sir Stephen Bubb, Chief Executive of the 

Association of Chief Executives of Voluntary Organisations (ACEVO), to lead a review 

to explore how a new national commissioning framework might be delivered locally, 

to develop the appropriate community provision required to move people out of 

inappropriate institutional care. 

 

5.16 The Bubb report (Winterbourne View – A Time for Change) was published in 

November 2014 and is appended to this paper; the report sets out a roadmap for 

action. The top-line recommendations are: 

• To urgently close inappropriate in-patient care institutions; 

• A Charter of Rights for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and 

their families;  

• To give people with learning disabilities and their families a ‘right to 

challenge’ decisions and the right to request a personal budget; 

• A requirement for local decision-makers to follow a mandatory framework 

that sets out who is responsible, for which services and how they will be held 

to account, including improved data collection and publication;  

• Improved training and education for NHS, local government and provider 

staff; 

• To start a social investment fund to build capacity in community-based 

services, to enable them to provide alternative support and empowering 

people with learning disabilities by giving them the rights they deserve in 

determining their care. 

 

5.17 Implications and Next steps 

Delivering the Transforming Care agenda and taking forward the recommendations 

laid out in the Bubb report will impose new health and social care commissioning 

arrangements across the country. It must be emphasized that   

a significant scale of work, resource and commitment is required by Clinical 

Commissioning Groups and local Authorities given the pace expected nationally. It is 

expected that: 

• Clinical Commissioning Groups and local authorities will work in partnership 

with each other and with NHS England to ensure the maximum positive 

impact is achieved on the lives of people with learning disabilities and/or 

autism. This may mean a move towards pooled budget arrangements.  

Page 13



• Clinical Commissioning Groups and local authorities will develop a community 

based model of care, with system wide changes in both principles and 

practice to support this.  

• Clinical Commissioning Groups and local authorities will ensure there is equity 

in funding arrangements and removal of barriers to success such as lack of 

access to personal budgets, innovation and good quality support planning.  

• In the long term, health and social care spend will not be less than it currently 

is, it will however be spent differently in a more self and family-directed way 

with a greater focus on outcomes.  

Some of the investment linked to hospital closures and shift to community support 

may attract national transitional funding but this is not yet confirmed. 

 

5.18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.20 

 

 

 

 

 

5.21 

To deliver the wider Learning Disability agenda and ensure success of Transforming 

Care in Lancashire, a Learning Disability Commissioners Network for Lancashire and 

South Cumbria was set up in November 2014. A key responsibility of this group will 

be to consider the development of a strategic framework to provide the governance 

and future model of care for people with a learning disability and discussions are in 

progress. Blackpool is represented on this group through the Commissioner for 

Learning Disabilities, the Head of Commissioning, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning 

Groups and the Community Learning Disability Team Manager.  

 

In Blackpool, a significant amount of groundwork has been undertaken to understand 

the needs of and transform the way we commission services for people with learning 

disabilities. Strategic Commissioners have carried out work to understand the future 

demand the Concordat will place on services, including gap analysis, market 

stimulation and the requirement for service redesign. Partnership working, 

commissioning and funding arrangements are also in place to support this.  

 

The Council has established Integrated Community Learning Disability Team which 

includes Psychology Services and there are strong links between the team and 

Strategic Commissioners across the local authority and Blackpool Clinical 

Commissioning Groups. This team is linked into work taking place regionally; working 

collaboratively where appropriate.  

 

Whilst plans are not yet transformational in terms of having implemented alternative 

provision for inpatients, the Council is developing a shared commissioning strategy 

for adults and children’s health and social care which will be in place by April 2015 

and a new specialist provider framework will be established by Summer 2015 to 

ensure the local market is capable of managing people with more complex needs and 

challenging behaviour in the community.  

 

 

 

 

Page 14



5.22 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 

No 

5.23 List of Appendices:  

  

Appendix 4a: Winterbourne View a time for change 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 

 

6.1 

 

To meet the requirements of the Concordat, the Council and Clinical Commissioning 

Group  must work within the legal requirements of the Mental Health Act 1983 and 

the Mental Capacity Act 2005. 

 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 

 

7.1 

 

The Integrated Community Learning Disability  Team (CLDT), (comprising of health 

and social care professionals from the local authority’s Adults Social Care Team, 

Psychology services, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals Community Health and Blackpool 

Clinical Commissioning Group) is responsible for co-ordinating and reviewing care 

plans of people with learning disabilities in social care and health placements. The 

Contracting and Commissioning Team within the Local Authority are responsible for 

coordinating contract monitoring arrangements including quality monitoring of local 

authority and NHS contracted services respectively. 

 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 

 

8.1 

 

A Lancashire wide Joint Strategic Needs Assessment report highlighted that people 

with learning disabilities are 

one of the most excluded groups in the community:  

• Nearly half live in the most deprived areas of Lancashire  

• Fewer than 15% Lancashire are in employment across Lancashire and in Blackpool 

this figure is considerably lower.  

• The housing needs of people with learning disabilities are considerable and will 

increase.  

• People with learning disabilities experience much poorer health outcomes across 

a range of conditions including respiratory diseases, sensory impairment,  

gastrointestinal cancer, anxiety and depression, dementia and challenging 

behaviour  

• Prevalence and need is increasing whilst available budgets have been decreasing 

and are likely to continue to decrease.  

• This has major implications for how services are delivered and will require a 

different approach to commissioning and developing co-produced services.  

 

 
 

Page 15



 

 

9.0 Financial considerations: 

 

9.1 

 

The care packages for the seven individuals within the Concordat cohort are fully 

funded by Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group as in NHS hospitals. 

 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 

 

10.1 Safeguarding and protecting the most vulnerable is a key underpinning theme in the 

Health and Wellbeing Board’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-15.The Board 

therefore has a key leadership role to play in ensuring that the commitments made in 

the Winterbourne View Concordat are achieved. A failure to keep adults at risk of 

abuse safe from avoidable harm represents not only a significant risk to residents but 

also to the reputation of the Local Authority, Blackpool CCG and care providers. 

Although safeguarding must be the concern of all agencies working with vulnerable 

adults, the Local Authority is the lead agency and is responsible for the co-ordination 

of the multi-agency Safeguarding Board.   

 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 

11.1 

 

None  

 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 

 

12.1 

 

None  

 

13.0 Background papers: 

 

13.1 

 

None 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



WINTERBOURNE  
VIEW – TIME 
FOR CHANGE

Transforming the commissioning 
of services for people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism

A report by the Transforming Care and Commissioning 
Steering Group, chaired by Sir Stephen Bubb – 2014

Page 17



Page 18



WINTERBOURNE  
VIEW – TIME 
FOR CHANGE

Transforming the commissioning 
of services for people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism

Page 19



Published in 2014

Designed and typeset by Soapbox www.soapbox.co.uk

Page 20



CONTENTS

Foreword 6

Executive summary  8

About this report 12

The problem we are confronting 14

Where we are now 14

Where we need to get to   15

Why has there not been more progress?   17

Recommendations  20

Strengthening rights   20

Forcing the pace on commissioning  24

Closures  28

Building capacity in the community  31

Holding people to account  36

Appendix 1  37 
Membership of the steering group

Appendix 2  38 
‘We have the right’ statement

Appendix 3 40 
Challenging Behaviour National Strategy 
Group Charter  

Appendix 4 42 
Summary of Recommended Social Investment 
Structures from Winterbourne View and Social 
Investment (2014) 

 

Page 21



6

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

FOREWORD 

The Winterbourne View scandal, exposed by the Panorama 
programme, shocked the nation. It led to the Government pledge to 
move all people with learning disabilities and/or autism inappropriately 
placed in such institutions into community care by June this year. Not 
only has there been a failure to achieve that movement, there are still more 
people being admitted to such institutions than are being discharged. 
This has caused anger and frustration.

In light of the need to achieve progress Simon Stevens, the CEO of 
NHS England, asked me to consider how we might implement a new 
national framework , locally delivered, to achieve the growth of community 
provision needed to move people out of inappropriate institutional care.

Only by a big expansion of such community provision can we achieve 
a move from institution to community. So we need a mandatory national 
commissioning framework that delivers that expansion, pooled budgets, and 
a focus on the individual’s needs not the system boundaries. The role of the 
many voluntary and community organisations that both advocate for and 
provide services for people with learning disabilities and/or autism is crucial 
to that aim, as are the individuals themselves, their families, clinicians, 
managers  and professionals across the health service and in local councils, 
who need to work together to achieve a dramatic turn-around.

In tackling this challenge it became clear to me that we need both a major 
expansion of community delivery driven by better commissioning but also, 
crucially, the empowerment of people with learning disabilities  
and/or autism and their families. That means a clear and robust Charter 
of Rights and an effective “Right to Challenge”, backed by strong advocacy 
and support, that enables citizens to demand change. We also propose that 
community based providers have the right to propose alternatives to inpatient 
care from commissioners. And we support a major expansion of the right to 
request a personal budget; again we believe this underpins an empowerment 
of the individual citizen to have care and support appropriate to them.

In other words we need to drive change from the top through 
better commissioning and from the bottom up through 
empowering people and families to challenge the system.

Underpinning a shift to community provision and away from inappropriate 
institutional care are exciting proposals for workforce development and 
a new social finance fund. In developing community provision we need 
social finance to support capital development so we propose a “life in 
the community social investment fund” which will support the provision 
of working capital, investment in housing and an investment readiness 
partnership fund. This is a new proposal but we recognised that developing 
community provision needs the funding that social finance can provide and 
I urge Government and NHS England to push ahead with funding to make 
this happen promptly.  

Page 22



Foreword 

7The steering group were clear about the crucial importance of workforce 
and skills development. This must happen alongside developing 
community facilities. We were particularly impressed with the momentum 
around the idea of the Academy set out on this Report. We must ensure that 
momentum for change is built on by all those involved.

And finally, as well as a mandatory national framework for commissioning 
that is locally delivered we must have active decommissioning of 
inappropriate institutional care and closures of such institutions. 
The timetable and process requires further discussion but a twenty-
first century approach to the care and support of people with learning 
disabilities cannot be based on long-term care in an institution.

In putting together this report I want to thank all my colleagues 
on the steering group, and  all those I have met or spoken to, and 
those who submitted many comments and documents. Even when 
critical we recognised this came about through the anger of those 
who have seen a system fail them.

In 1851, the American physician and philanthropist Samuel Gridley Howe 
wrote about the “evils” of institutional care. He wrote, “all such institutions 
are unnatural, undesirable and very liable to abuse. We should have as 
few of them as possible, and those few should be kept as small as possible. 
The human family is the unit of society.”

That essential truth underpins our proposals for change and we know they 
have widespread support. We recognised that as a nation when we closed 
the old mental health asylums and we must recognise it again here.

I have recommended to the chief executive of NHS England that my 
steering group be brought together again in 6 months to review progress 
on our recommendations and that we have a formal stock take of actions 
taken in 12 months’ time. We can act as a driver for change but clearly it 
is the institutions themselves that must deliver these recommendations. 
And deliver them they must. 

Over the past few years people with learning disabilities and/or autism have 
heard much talk but seen too little action, and this forms the backdrop to 
our recommendations and our desire to see urgent action taken now to make 
a reality of the Winterbourne pledge. They deserve better and this Report 
provides recommendations on that essential road map for change.

Sir Stephen Bubb

Page 23



8

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 About this report 

1. This report is the product of NHS England asking Sir Stephen Bubb, 
chief executive of charity leaders body ACEVO, to make recommendations 
for a national commissioning framework under which local commissioners 
would secure community-based support for people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism. This came after a pledge made in the wake the 
Winterbourne View scandal – to enable people with learning disabilities 
and/or autism inappropriately placed in hospital to move to community-
based support by June 20141 – was missed.

2. Sir Stephen was supported by a steering group of representatives from the 
voluntary sector, the NHS and local government, individuals with learning 
disabilities and/or autism, and family members of people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism. Over the course of its work, the group engaged 
with a range of stakeholders (from people with learning disabilities and/or 
autism and their families to commissioners, providers and academics). 

3. Whilst originally tasked with drawing up recommendations for a 
commissioning framework, it was clear to the steering group that any such 
framework formulated by NHS England would need to be accompanied 
by related action from others (including most obviously central and local 
Government), and our recommendations reflect this. Our starting point is 
that it is not acceptable in the twenty-first century for thousands of people 
to be living in hospitals when with the right support they could be living 
in the community, and that to force change we need both more ‘top-down’ 
leadership (from NHS England, local government, central government and 
other Arms-Length Bodies), and from the ‘bottom up’ more empowerment 
for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families. 
Our recommendations are aimed at both.

4. The failure to meet the Winterbourne View pledge above means there 
is now a great deal of anger and frustration surrounding this issue. In 
responding to this report, NHS England and its partners need both to act 
with urgency, and to be realistic about the timeline for success, so that they 
do not promise yet another ‘false dawn’. 

 The problem

5. Some people with learning disabilities and/or autism who present 
challenging behaviour and/or complex mental health problems may need 
to be admitted to inpatient settings to be assessed and treated – particularly 
if they are liable to detention under the Mental Health Act on the 
recommendation of mental health professionals or a court. But many 
are admitted when their admission could have been prevented had they 

1 Department of Health, Winterbourne View Review: Concordat: a programme 
of action (2012) 

Page 24



Executive summary 

9received better support in the community, and many stay in hospital 
too long, when with the right support in the community they could be 
discharged. The result is that for many years too many people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism have been, and continue to be, in inappropriate 
inpatient settings – often a very long distance away from family and home.

6. We must see a step change on two fronts: a) putting in place the 
community-based support to safely discharge people currently in inpatient 
settings (of whom the latest NHS England data collection showed there 
were 2,600)2, and crucially b) supporting children, young people and 
adults in the community to prevent admissions in the first place (focusing 
on a much larger number, most urgently perhaps some 24,000 adults in 
England who present severe challenging behaviour3).

7. By a very long way, this report is not the first time anyone has considered 
these issues. Many have done so, over many decades. So why has there 
not been more progress? Our view is that: 

 • It is not that we don’t know ‘what good looks like’. That has been 
described many times, from Professor Mansell’s4 authoritative report 
in 1993 onwards. 

 • Nor is it that we don’t know what kind of commissioning we need to 
secure that good care. The Concordat published after the Winterbourne 
View scandal set out the necessary key steps very clearly (starting with 
pooled budgets and joint local commissioning plans), and has been 
followed by a range of further analysis and guidance. 

 • Instead, it is that we make it too hard for stakeholders across the system 
to make change happen, and too easy to continue with the status quo. 
And we do not give enough power or support to the people most eager 
and best placed to make things change – starting with people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism themselves and their families. 

8. Our recommendations therefore aim to make it easier (or mandatory) 
to do the right thing, harder (or impossible) to do the wrong thing, 
and to empower and support the agents of change. 

Recommendations 

 Strengthening rights
1. The Government should draw up a Charter of Rights for people 

with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families, and it should 
underpin all commissioning. The Charter should clarify existing rights, 
and set out new rights we propose below. The mandatory commissioning 
framework later in our recommendations should require all commissioners 
to invest in services that make these rights ‘real’ and easily used.

2 NHS England, Quarterly ‘Assuring Transformation’ data, published at  
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/wint-view-impr-prog/ 

3 K. Lowe et al, Challenging Behaviours: prevalence and topographies. Journal 
of Intellectual Disability Research, 51, 625–636 (2007)

4 J. Mansell, Services for People with Learning Disabilities and Challenging 
Behaviour of Mental Health Needs (1993), and revised edition (2007)

Page 25

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/wint-view-impr-prog/


10

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

2. The Government should respond to ‘the Bradley Report Five Years On’,5 
to ensure that people with learning disabilities and/or autism are better 
treated by the criminal justice system.

3. People with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families should 
be given a ‘right to challenge’ decisions to admit or continue keeping 
them in inpatient care. They should receive independent expert support 
to exercise that right, including high-quality independent advocacy. 

4. NHS England should extend the right to have a personal budget 
(or personal health budget) to more people with learning disabilities 
and/or autism, including all those in inpatient care and appropriate groups 
living in the community but at risk of being admitted to inpatient care. 

5. The Government should look at ways to protect an individual’s home 
tenancy when they are admitted to hospital, so that people do not 
lose their homes on admission and end up needing to find new suitable 
accommodation to enable discharge.

 Forcing the pace on commissioning
6. The Government and NHS England should require all local 

commissioners to follow a mandatory commissioning framework. 
The funding and responsibility for commissioning services for this 
group should be devolved as much as possible from NHS specialised 
commissioning to Clinical Commissioning Groups. Learning from 
the strengths (and weaknesses) of the Better Care Fund, a mandatory 
framework should then require the pooling of health, social care and 
housing budgets, and mandate NHS and local government commissioners 
to draw up a long-term plan for spending that funding in a way that 
builds up community services, makes the Charter of Rights above 
real, and reduces reliance on inpatient services. NHS England, central 
Government and local government representatives such as the Local 
Government Association and Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services should support and assure the drawing up of local commissioning 
plans, and unblock systemic barriers (including Ordinary Residence rules 
and eligibility for Continuing Health Care). There should be a named lead 
commissioner in each area, working collaboratively with a provider forum 
and people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families.

7. Community-based providers should be given a ‘right to propose 
alternatives’ to inpatient care to individuals, their families, 
commissioners and responsible clinicians. 

 Closures of inpatient institutions
8. The commissioning framework should be accompanied by a closure 

programme of inappropriate institutional inpatient facilities. This 
active decommissioning should be driven by a tougher approach from 
the Care Quality Commission, local closure plans, and closures led by 
NHS England where it is the main commissioner. NHS England should 
come to a considered, realistic view on what is possible – but then it should 

5 G. Durcan, A. Saunders, B. Gadsby & A. Hazard, The Bradley Report five years on: 
an independent review of progress to date and priorities for further development 
(2014)

Page 26



Executive summary 

11set out a clear timetable not just for reductions in admissions or inpatient 
numbers, but for closures of beds and institutions.

 Building capacity in the community
9. Health Education England, Skills for Care, Skills for Health and 

partners should develop a  national workforce ‘Academy’ for this field, 
building on the work already started by Professors Allen and Hastings 
and others6. The Academy should bring together existing expertise in a 
range of organisations to develop the workforce across the system. 

10. A ‘Life in the Community’ Social Investment Fund should be established 
to facilitate transitions out of inpatient settings and build capacity 
in community-based services. The Investment Fund, seeded with 
£30 million from NHS England and/or Government, could leverage 
some £200 million from other investors to make investment more easily 
accessible to expand community-based services. 

 Holding people to account
11. Action on the recommendations above should be accompanied by 

improved collection and publication of performance data, and a 
monitoring framework at central and local level. Data on key indicators 
(such as admissions rates, length of stay, delayed transfers, number of 
beds by commissioning organisation) should be collected and published. 
Both local commissioners and national bodies (including NHS England, 
DH, the LGA and others) should be held to account for implementing our 
recommendations above – local named lead commissioners by local people, 
NHS England and central Government, and national bodies through 
existing governance structures (such as the Transforming Care Assurance 
Board chaired by the Minister for Care and Support).

6 Their proposal is outlined at https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B_
At2T3XSWfTd2VOcTRrOURMZW8/edit?pli=1 

Page 27

https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B_At2T3XSWfTd2VOcTRrOURMZW8/edit?pli=1
https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B_At2T3XSWfTd2VOcTRrOURMZW8/edit?pli=1


12

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

ABOUT THIS REPORT 

1. After the Winterbourne View scandal, the Government and a large number 
of partners signed a Concordat pledging action on care for people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism who present behaviour that challenges 
and/or complex mental health problems. The Concordat promised: 
“health and care commissioners will review all current hospital placements 
and support everyone inappropriately placed in hospital to move to 
community-based support as quickly as possible and no later than 1 June 
2014”. It envisaged a “rapid reduction in hospital placements for this group 
of people”, and “the closure of large-scale inpatient services”.7 But that 
pledge was missed. 

2. Following the failure to meet that pledge, NHS England developed 
a programme plan and asked Sir Stephen Bubb, chief executive of 
charity leaders body ACEVO, to make recommendations for a national 
commissioning framework under which local commissioners would 
secure community-based support for people with learning disabilities  
and/or autism. 

3. Sir Stephen was supported by a steering group of representatives from 
the voluntary sector, the NHS and local government, Gavin Harding MBE 
as co-chair of the Department of Health’s Transforming Care Assurance 
Board, individuals with learning disabilities and/or autism, and family 
members of people with learning disabilities and/or autism. Over the course 
of its work, the group engaged with a range of stakeholders (from people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families to commissioners, 
voluntary sector organisations who work with and/or represent people with 
learning disability or autism and their families, providers and academics). 
The membership of the steering group is set out in the appendices. 

4. When we refer to community based services we mean smaller more 
personalised services within a community setting where there is good 
access to local amenities and services. People supported are able to exercise 
choice and control over where they live, who they live with and who 
supports them and truly feel that where they live is their home. The label 
applied to the service – such as supported living or registered care – 
should in no way impact on the quality or feel of the service provided.

5. The steering group was supported through focus groups with individuals 
with learning disabilities and/or autism and their family carers, and by 
an expert reference group on social investment. The latter group was 
supported by research on the potential role for social investment from 
Resonance Ltd, which formed the basis for much of our thinking on social 
investment and which is being published alongside this report.8 

7 Department of Health, Winterbourne View Review: Concordat: a programme 
of action (2012)

8 Resonance, Winterbourne View and Social Investment (2014)

Page 28



About this report 

1313

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

6. In formulating this report, over several months the steering group met 
with or heard from a wide range of stakeholders. We held workshops 
with people with learning disabilities and/or autism, with providers 
and with commissioners. We looked at the considerable volume of work 
already undertaken on this issue – the reports by Professor Mansell of 
1993 and 2007,9 the review by the Department of Health undertaken after 
the Winterbourne View scandal,10 the subsequent Concordat signed up 
to by stakeholders across the system,11 Ensuring Quality Services by the 
LGA/NHS England,12 and reports and guidance by a very wide range 
of organisations, including but not limited to the Joint Improvement 
Partnership hosted at the Local Government Association, Think Local 
Act Personal, the National Development Team for Inclusion(NDTI), 
the Royal College of Psychiatrists and the British Psychological Society, 
the Housing and Support Alliance, Skills for Care, the Challenging 
Behaviour Foundation, the Challenging Behaviour National Strategy 
Group and others. A number of organisations spoke to us or submitted 
evidence directly, including the Ideas Collective, CHANGE, Shared Lives 
Plus, and Prof. Richard Hastings at the University of Warwick. We have 
drawn heavily on their ideas and views, and are hugely grateful for 
their engagement. 

7. Whilst we were originally tasked with making recommendations for a 
national commissioning framework for NHS England, it is clear to us that 
any such framework formulated by NHS England must be accompanied 
by related action from others – most obviously, local and central 
government – and by a stronger rights framework. Our recommendations 
reflect this. 

9 J. Mansell, Services for People with Learning Disabilities and Challenging 
Behaviour of Mental Health Needs (1993), and revised edition (2007)

10 Department of Health, Transforming Care: a national response to 
Winterbourne View hospital (2012)

11 Department of Health, Winterbourne View Review: Concordat: a programme 
of action (2012)

12 LGA & NHS England, Ensuring Quality Services (2014)

Page 29



14

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

14THE PROBLEM WE 
ARE CONFRONTING

 Where we are now

1. The problem we are dealing with is, we believe, well understood. It has 
been well described a number of times, by people with learning disabilities 
and/or autism themselves, their families, charities and campaign 
groups, the Department of Health, professional organisations, the Local 
Government Association and NHS England. We summarise it here for 
clarity, rather than as a new addition to the debate. 

2. Some people with learning disabilities and/or autism who present 
challenging behaviour may need to be admitted to inpatient settings 
to be assessed and treated – particularly if they are liable to detention 
under the Mental Health Act on the recommendations of mental health 
professionals or a court. But 

a) many are admitted when that could have been prevented had they 
received better support in the community,

b) many stay in hospital too long, when with the right support in the 
community they could be discharged. 

The result is that for many years, at any one time far too many people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism could (and still can) be found 
in inappropriate inpatient settings. 

3. After the Winterbourne View scandal, the Government and a large 
number of partners signed a Concordat which promised: “health and care 
commissioners will review all current hospital placements and support 
everyone inappropriately placed in hospital to move to community-based 
support as quickly as possible and no later than 1 June 2014”. It envisaged 
a “rapid reduction in hospital placements for this group of people”, 
and “the closure of large-scale inpatient services”.13

4. Since then, hundreds have been transferred out of inpatient care – 
NHS England’s quarterly data collections show that between 30 September 
2013 and 30 September 2014, 923 people were transferred out of inpatient 
care. But crucially, numbers admitted have been consistently higher 
than numbers transferred out – with 1,306 individuals admitted over 
the same period.14 

5. Individuals with learning disabilities, their families, commissioners and 
clinicians, will still say that many of those inpatients could be discharged, 
or that their admission could have been prevented, if there were better 

13 Department of Health, Winterbourne View Review: Concordat: a programme 
of action (2012)

14 NHS England, Quarterly ‘Assuring Transformation’ data, published at  
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/wint-view-impr-prog/ 

Page 30

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/wint-view-impr-prog/


The problem we 
are confronting

15support available in the community. And NHS England’s care reviews are 
still finding significant numbers of people in inpatient settings who could 
and should be discharged with the right community-based support in place. 
Too often, people are still placed in inpatient settings a very long distance 
from family and home. 

6. The pledge in the Concordat is still valid. We still need to do better both at 

a) Putting in place the community-based support to safely discharge 
people currently in inpatient settings (of whom the latest NHS England 
data collection showed there were 2,600),15 and 

b) supporting people in the community to prevent admissions in the first 
place – with that early intervention starting at the earliest possible stage 
in childhood, but most urgently with better support provided to adults 
in the community with severe challenging behaviour (of whom there 
are much larger number, perhaps some 24,000 people in England16). 

7. Stakeholders were clear to us that this latter need to focus on early 
intervention and prevention cannot be overlooked. The intense focus 
on the 2,000–3,000 people currently in inpatient settings is welcome, 
but it must not be at the expense of catering for the larger number at risk 
of admission. Failure to do better for them will result in failure to reduce 
inpatient numbers overall. 

 Where we need to get to 

8. Again, there is broad consensus on what the world should look like for 
people with learning disabilities and/or autism who present behaviour 
that challenges. It has been described repeatedly by people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism themselves, their families, Professor Mansell 
(in 1993 and again in 2007),17 the Department of Health (in its ‘model of 
care’ published after the Winterbourne View scandal),18 the Winterbourne 
View Joint Improvement Programme (in Ensuring Quality Services),19 
the NDTI (in the DH-funded Guide for commissioners of services for people 
with learning disabilities who challenge services)20 and others. Again, we 
summarise ‘what good looks like’ here for clarity rather than with the 
intention of adding anything new to the debate: 

 • The presumption should be that people live in their own homes, 
not in hospitals. A hospital, whatever the quality of the care it provides, 
is not a home. 

 • The system needs to respect and uphold the rights of people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism (general human rights and rights 

15 NHS England, Quarterly ‘Assuring Transformation’ data, published at  
www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/wint-view-impr-prog/

16 K. Lowe et al, Challenging Behaviours: prevalence and topographies. Journal 
ofΩIntellectual Disability Research, 51, 625–636 (2007)

17 J. Mansell, Services for People with Learning Disabilities and Challenging 
Behaviour of Mental Health Needs (1993), and revised edition (2007)

18 Department of Health, Transforming Care: a national response to Winterbourne 
View hospital (2012) 

19 LGA & NHS England, Ensuring Quality Services (2014)
20 NDTI, Guide for commissioners of services for people with learning disabilities 

who challenge services (2010)

Page 31

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/wint-view-impr-prog/


16

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

specific to people with disabilities), ensuring that they are able to 
exercise choice and control over their lives and that they are treated 
with dignity and respect.

 • Services need to support people as human beings to lead whole lives 
(rather than simply as ‘patients’ who need to be treated for medical 
problems).

 • Support needs to be provided over the whole life course, from birth 
to old age, and we should seek to intervene early to prevent crises rather 
than simply responding to them.

 • The system needs to combine highly personalised support with 
reasonable adjustments that ensure access to universal services. 

 • Services need to incorporate building blocks that we know to be crucial 
to success, such as: multi-disciplinary community learning disability 
teams able to provide support with communication, physical and mental 
health and social needs; care coordinators; support for families to look 
after family members at home, including short break services; high-
quality independent advocacy services; appropriate housing; access 
to education, work and meaningful activities; extra support in times 
of crisis; access to Positive Behavioural Support and highly-skilled 
staff throughout the system (all set out in more detail in the Mansell 
reports,21 the joint report of the Royal College of Psychiatrists, British 
Psychological Society and the Royal College of Speech and Language 
Therapists in 2007,22 or the NHS England/LGA guide Ensuring 
Quality Services23). 

 • Where a spell in inpatient settings is truly necessary, it should be 
as local as possible, and enable speedy resolution to crises in a way 
that builds resilience for the individual and their family.

 • People with learning disabilities gave us a strong message that a good 
system will be co-designed with, and employ, people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism and their family members. 

9. There is also broad agreement about some of the mechanisms required 
in commissioning practice if we are to have services that meet the above, 
and these were clearly spelt out in the Transforming Care Concordat that 
followed the Winterbourne View scandal. They included: 

 • Pooled budgets and joint commissioning, accompanied by strong 
local leadership. The Transforming Care Concordat stated: “the 
strong presumption will be in favour of pooled budget arrangements… 
CCGs and local authorities will set out a joint strategic plan to 
commission the range of local health, housing and care support services 
to meet the needs of people with challenging behaviour in their area.”24 

21 J. Mansell, Services for People with Learning Disabilities and Challenging 
Behaviour of Mental Health Needs (1993), and revised edition (2007)

22 Royal College of Pyschiatrists, British Pyschological Society and Royal College 
of Speech and Language Therapists, Challenging Behaviour: a unified approach 
(2007)

23 LGA & NHS England, Ensuring Quality Services (2014)
24 Department of Health, Winterbourne View Review: Concordat: a programme 

of action (2012)

Page 32



The problem we 
are confronting

17 • Personalisation. The Concordat pointed to the importance of personal 
care plans for each individual, and pledged that inpatients “should 
be receiving personalised care and support in community settings”.25 
Subsequent work, such as Think Local Act Personal and the NDTI’s 
2014 report on personal health budgets for people with learning 
disabilities,26 has pointed to the potential benefits of personal budgets 
as a tool for achieving personalised care. 

 • Contracts that incentivise or require best practice. The Concordat 
pledged a range of actions to make it easier to: reward best practice 
through the NHS commissioning for quality and innovation (CQUIN) 
framework, embed Quality of Health principles in NHS contracts and 
Quality of Life principles in social care contracts, and hold providers 
to account.27 

 • Support for commissioners. There has been widespread recognition 
that local commissioners do not always have the capacity or capability 
to lead the kind of service transformation hoped for, and the Concordat 
led to a range of actions to support commissioners, ranging from 
practical tools (such as toolkits or service specifications) to guidance 
(such as that by the Royal College of GPs and Royal College of 
Psychiatrists28) to workshops as currently being run by the Joint 
Improvement Programme. People with learning disabilities and/
or autism and their families have argued strongly that they and their 
local groups should be partners in commissioning decisions. 

 • Provider and workforce development. Again, there has been 
widespread agreement that for more people with learning disabilities 
and/or autism who display challenging behaviour to be supported 
successfully in the community, community-based providers and 
workforces will need support and development. A large number 
of pledges in the Concordat focused on workforce development, 
with actions ranging from guidance for social workers to minimum 
training standards for healthcare support workers to guidance for 
commissioners on workforce development.29 

 Why has there not been more progress? 

10. As the above makes clear, this steering group is not the first time anyone 
has thought about this issue, by a very long way. For decades people have 
argued for change and described what good care looks like, and how we 
can commission it. The Winterbourne View scandal made the need for 
change even clearer, and resulted in a wide range of commitments from 
Government and others. But the problem remains. Why? 

25 Department of Health, Winterbourne View Review: Concordat: a programme 
of action (2012)

26 Think Local Act Personal & the NDTI, Personal Health Budgets: including people 
with learning disabilities (2014)

27 Department of Health, Winterbourne View Review: Concordat: a programme 
of action (2012)

28 Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health, Guidance for commissioners 
of mental health services for people with learning disabilities (2013) 

29 Department of Health, Winterbourne View Review: Concordat: a programme 
of action (2012)

Page 33



18

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

11. Our view is that progress has been so slow not because we haven’t 
described what good looks like, or how we need to get there, but because 
it has been too hard to do the right thing and too easy to do wrong thing, 
and the people most eager to change the system (people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism and their families, enthusiastic providers, 
clinicians and commissioners) have had too little power or support to do so. 

12. Clinicians are being asked to admit fewer people who present challenging 
behaviour to inpatient settings, and to discharge others, on the basis that 
they can be appropriately supported in the community. Many clinicians 
would like to do just that, and some manage it – but too often they do 
so in spite of the system, not because of it. They are being asked to keep 
people in the community or discharge to the community when many 
will worry that the community-based support on offer is insufficient, 
or not there at all. They do not want to see individuals unsupported 
in the community, and many will have seen precisely that happen with 
subsequent placement breakdown and a need for readmission. They 
are being asked to take this approach when many work for providers that 
are not financially incentivised to have a culture and a drive to get people 
supported in the community, but that instead have an incentive to keep 
inpatient beds full. And clinicians are being asked to do this when the 
people who have the expertise to suggest to them realistic community-
based alternatives are often unable to, because they lack access to 
information about the individual’s needs. 

13. Both health and social care providers are being asked to expand their 
community-based capacity to support people who present behavioural 
challenges in order that they are not admitted in the first place, or can be 
safely discharged from inpatient settings. Many would like to do just that, 
and some manage – but again, too often despite the system not because 
of it. Providers are being asked to invest significant sums of money in new 
staff, training and sometimes new or altered accommodation, months in 
advance of them taking on new clients and being paid for their care. They 
may not have the capital to make that upfront investment. Sometimes they 
are asked to put those services in place at impossibly short notice. And they 
are asked to make the upfront investment when they are fundamentally not 
confident that commissioning or clinical behaviour will change, and that 
there will be predictable revenue streams to pay for their investment.

14. People with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families are being 
asked to play a central role – speaking up for their rights, acting as partners 
in designing packages of support, perhaps managing personal budgets, 
challenging poor practice, being directly involved in the appointment of 
their care staff. Some do. But too often they experience it as an exhausting 
battle against the system. Others do not know what their rights are, don’t 
have the support to express or use them. Still others do not know what 
good community-based potential alternatives could be created for them, 
and know only the community services that have failed them before. 

15. Frontline staff are being asked to behave differently – to think more 
often of people as people and citizens with rights(not just patients with 
problems), to engage individuals or their families in care more, to be 
aspirational about what people can achieve, to make greater use of Positive 

Page 34



The problem we 
are confronting

19Behavioural Support. Many do – but again, less because of the system than 
in spite of it, because we are asking them to do so without a great deal of 
support or training, and without incentivising the organisations they work 
for to make it a priority. 

16. And commissioners (CCGs, local councils and NHS specialist 
commissioners) are being asked to collaborate across organisational 
boundaries to transform a highly complex system, taking risks in the 
process. Some have, but again, too often in spite of the system not because 
of it. Because they are being asked to do all this when many have limited 
time and capacity to give to the issues, lack expert support, are constrained 
or slowed down by organisational disputes over who pays for what and 
whose responsibility an individual should be, and may lack the backing 
from local leaders that they need to push through change and negotiate 
compromise between different interests. And they are being asked not 
to put people in inpatient beds when often those beds have been paid for 
on a block contract, come at no marginal cost, and feel like the safe option. 

17. We need to make it easier (or mandatory) for all these stakeholders to 
do what we are asking of them. We need to make it harder (or impossible) 
for them to settle for the status quo that we are agreed must stop. And we 
need to empower the agents of change – those commissioners, providers, 
clinicians and above all, people with learning disabilities and/or autism 
and their families, who are battling for things to be done differently. 
That is what any new commissioning framework needs to do, and what 
our recommendations aim to achieve. 

Page 35



20

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

RECOMMENDATIONS

 Strengthening rights 

1. The Government should draw up a Charter of Rights for people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism and their families, and it should 
underpin all commissioning

1.1. We have heard, loud and clear, the message from people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism and their families that the 
system needs to do a better job of respecting and upholding their 
rights, and listening to what they have to say. This is about doing 
what is fundamentally the right thing, respecting people’s human 
rights as a point of principle. But it is also about empowering people 
who could help change the way the system works for the better, but 
who too often struggle to make themselves heard. In the context 
of the problem described in the previous chapter, it is about 
empowering the agents of change. 

1.2. People with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families 
have an array of rights in law or Government policy – through 
human rights law, the Equalities Act, the NHS constitution, the 
Mental Health Act, the Care Act, the Mental Capacity Act, the 
UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, and so on. 

1.3. But in our engagement with stakeholders over the course of our 
work, we heard that the lived experience of people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism and their families is too often very 
different. Too often they feel powerless, their rights unclear, 
misunderstood or ignored. 

1.4. In some cases, people with learning disabilities and/or autism 
and their families may not be aware of the rights they already have, 
or may not have access to the support they need to exercise those 
rights (such as access at the right time to an advocate or lawyer – 
for instance, during a crisis, at point of admission, or when in 
an inpatient setting). 

1.5. In other cases, there are doubts over whether the rights of people 
with learning disability are being respected in practice as originally 
intended. For instance, as the Government has recognised,30 there 
have been occasions where the safeguards in the Mental Health Act 
have not been properly applied, leading to the recent consultation 
on updating the Mental Health Act Code of Practice. 

1.6. There are also serious concerns about the treatment of people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism by the criminal justice 
system, and whether their rights are being properly upheld. 

30 Department of Health, Stronger Code: Better Care. Consultation on proposed 
changes to the Code of Practice: Mental Health Act 1983 (2014)

Page 36



Recommendations

21In 2009, the ‘Bradley Report’31 described a widespread lack of 
awareness of the issues faced by people with a learning disability and 
communication difficulties in the criminal justice system. Since then, 
there has been significant progress, but the ‘Bradley Report Five 
Years On’,32 published this year, found more needs to be done and 
made nine recommendations for action. This area was outside our 
remit to explore in detail, but we recognise how fundamentally 
important it is. We recommend that the Government respond to 
the recommendations of the ‘Bradley Report Five Years On’, setting 
out how cross-government action will tackle the issues raised. 

1.7. To make the rights that people with learning disabilities and/or 
autism and their families already have feel real, we recommend that 
the Government should set out a Charter of Rights for people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism – and then require commissioners 
to shape local services around those rights. 

1.8. Any such charter should build on existing work (such as the 
‘We Have the Right’ statement put together by people with 
learning disabilities with support from CHANGE for the purposes 
of this report, or the Challenging Behaviour Charter drawn up 
by the Challenging Behaviour National Strategy Group, both of 
which can be found in the appendices). The Charter of Rights 
should clarify the rights people already have, and the support 
they can access to use them. It should clarify how professionals 
(commissioners, clinicians and others) should respect those rights – 
including in respect to upcoming changes to the Mental Health 
Act Code of Practice. 

1.9. To give the Charter of Rights ‘teeth’, local commissioners should be 
required to base their local commissioning plans on it, and to set out 
how they will make those rights real – for instance, by:

 • ensuring information is accessible and available in a range of 
formats (including easy read) and adapted for individual needs; 

 • commissioning high-quality independent advocacy services for 
people with learning disabilities (including people with complex 
needs), brokerage support, and supporting self-advocacy and 
family advocacy groups. Particularly for individuals who do not 
have family, or do not have a supportive family, such support is 
critical;

 • offering personal budgets – and strong support for people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism and their families to use them; 

 • ensuring that at key moments (such as prior to admission) people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families know 
their rights, know what support they can access to exercise them, 
and know how to access that support;

31 Lord Bradley, The Bradley Report (2009)
32 G. Durcan, A. Saunders, B. Gadsby & A. Hazard, The Bradley Report five years on: 

an independent review of progress to date and priorities for further development 
(2014)

Page 37



22

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

 • employing and working in genuine partnerships with people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism and family carers throughout 
the system – in drawing up commissioning plans, in hiring staff, 
in ensuring providers meet high quality standards, in scrutinising 
and holding commissioners to account, sitting on provider boards 
of director, and so on. Some of this good practice commissioners 
could require through the contracts they let to providers, and 
NHS England should show leadership by employing people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism at a central level to help drive 
service transformation. 

1.10. Action to make this Charter of Rights ‘real’ should be central to the 
mandatory commissioning framework we set out below.

2. People with learning disabilities and/or autism should be given a ‘right 
to challenge’ their admission or continued placement in inpatient care 

2.1. In addition to making existing rights feel more ‘real’, we propose 
extending the rights of people with learning disabilities and/or 
autism and their families – starting with a ‘right to challenge’.

2.2. A ‘right to challenge’ would allow a person with learning disabilities 
and/or their family to challenge a decision to admit them to hospital 
or keep them there, should they so wish. Such a right should 
be accompanied by free support from an independent, multi-
disciplinary team, including ‘experts by experience’ – family carers 
or people with learning disabilities who have had experience of 
inpatient services or been at risk of admission themselves. Building 
on the process already developed through NHS England’s existing 
programme of care and treatment reviews and reviews by NHS 
England’s Improving Lives Team, together they would ask what 
assessment, treatment or safeguarding was to be undertaken/was 
being undertaken in an inpatient setting that could not feasibly 
be done in the community. The independent support would help 
individuals and families understand what community-based 
alternatives might be possible. Based on the presumption set out 
in the Mandate from the Department of Health to NHS England 
after the Winterbourne View Scandal (“the presumption should 
always be… that people remain in their communities”), the review 
triggered by this right to challenge would only recommend 
admission/continued placement in hospital if it concluded that 
the assessment, treatment or safeguarding could only be effectively 
and safely carried out in an inpatient setting.

2.3. We recognise that many individuals with learning disabilities and/or 
autism will not feel able to challenge the decisions taken regarding 
their care, particularly if they are in inpatient settings. In such cases, 
it is essential that the commissioners paying for their care take the 
responsibility to challenge the appropriateness of their admission 
or continued placement in inpatient settings. We expect all 
commissioners to ensure a care and treatment review is undertaken 
with the permission of the patient or their carer in order to confirm 
if inpatient treatment is appropriate. 

Page 38



Recommendations

233. NHS England should extend the right to have a personal budget 
(or personal health budget) to more people with learning disabilities 
and/or autism, along with support to manage those budgets 

3.1. The ‘right to challenge’ outlined above should be allied to an 
extension of rights to have a personal budget (or personal 
health budget),33 building on existing rights for those eligible 
for Continuing Health Care and social care funding. A right to 
have a personal budget (or personal health budget) should be 
considered for:

 • People who are inpatients and those at risk of admission: 
If an independent review linked to a ‘right to challenge’ found 
that an individual could avoid admission or be discharged 
with the right package of assessment, treatment, support and 
safeguarding in the community, the individual and their family 
should have a right (but not an obligation) to a personal budget 
(or personal health budget) to put that package in place. 

 • People with learning disabilities and mental health needs. 
For instance, people with learning disabilities who are on the 
Care Programme Approach would be a readily identifiable group 
who might benefit. 

 • Children and young people with learning disabilities. 
Children and young people who have significant health needs 
could be offered personal budgets (or personal health budgets) 
to enable them to remain living in the community and avoid out 
of area placements. 

3.2. Personal budgets and personal health budgets encourage a change 
in thinking. Instead of commissioning services for groups, support 
is designed for one person at a time, based on a whole-life care plan 
that focuses on what matters to the person and their family. As now, 
people should be able to take their budget in a variety of ways – 
as a direct payment, as a notional budget, or as a budget managed 
by a third party (known as an individual service fund in social care).

3.3.  Local areas will need national support to make this extension a 
reality, and the centre (the Department of Health, NHS England 
and national partners) will need to invest in that support. This 
should include: 

 • Ensuring close links with the Integrated Personal Commissioning 
programme, to support local areas to pool funding across health 
and social care. 

 • Publishing the number of people taking up personal budgets 
(or personal health budgets) and the impact on their lives, so 
local health and social care commissioners understand progress 
and can be held to account.

33 The term personal health budget is used where care is funded by the NHS, 
while personal budget is used in social care. 

Page 39



24

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

 • Putting in place a national support programme for local 
commissioners, to enable them to actively promote personal 
budgets (or personal health budgets) as an option for 
these groups.

 • Ensuring that the other recommendations of this report 
are implemented in ways that encourage and promote uptake 
of personal budgets and personal health budgets. 

4. The Government should look at ways to protect an individual’s home 
tenancy when they are admitted to hospital, so that people do not 
lose their homes on admission and end up needing to find new suitable 
accommodation to enable discharge.

4.1. We heard that on being admitted to hospital, it is common 
for people with learning disabilities and/or autism to lose their 
tenancy. Not only can that be distressing for the individual, the need 
further down the line to find suitable accommodation can cause 
delays to discharge. It was not in our remit to look into this issue 
in detail, but we recommend that the Government explore ways 
to protect the tenancies of people with learning disabilities and/or 
autism when they are admitted to hospital, so that they can return 
to the same home on discharge if they wish to. 

 Forcing the pace on commissioning 

5. The Government and NHS England should force the pace on 
commissioning by requiring local commissioners to follow a mandatory 
framework 

5.1. The basic pillars of what is required at a local level from NHS 
and local authority commissioners has already been described 
(and committed to by a range of partners) through the Transforming 
Care Concordat and elsewhere, namely: 

 • One shared vision, driven forward by active senior leadership, 
based on the presumption that hospitals are not homes, and 
that people should be supported to live in the community. 

 • One pooled budget, allowing maximum flexibility for 
commissioners to fund what individuals truly need, and aligning 
the financial incentives on all commissioners to invest in 
community-based provision. 

 • One robust plan for commissioning on a whole life-course basis, 
supporting early intervention and support (from early childhood 
onwards), expanding the provision of community-based support 
and care, and reducing the number of inpatients and inpatient 
provision. That plan should be based on a robust understanding 
of current and future need, a range of existing best practice 
guidance, and active engagement with people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism, their families and providers. 

5.2. Many local commissioners (in local councils and clinical 
commissioning groups) are enthusiastic about making this shift 
happen, and there is much good practice to draw on. But a great 

Page 40



Recommendations

25many local commissioners do not have the three pillars above in 
place. The most recently published stocktake by the Winterbourne 
View Joint Improvement Programme34 found many areas were 
not pooling budgets, commissioners, providers and families 
continue to cite disputes over who should fund what as a reason 
for inappropriate placements, and the growing number of people 
in inpatient settings suggests that in many areas, what local plans 
were drawn up did not meet the scale of the challenge. We have 
heard that common causes include: 

 • Lack of local leadership, and weak accountability. Where local 
commissioners have been successful in expanding community-
based provision and reducing the need for inpatient beds, active 
senior leadership backing has often been cited as key to their 
success. But where that leadership has been lacking, the national 
organisations do not appear to have been able to hold local 
commissioners to account, and nor do people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism or their families. 

 • Systemic barriers. Local commissioners have pointed to a number 
of systemic barriers to success, such as inconsistent application 
of rules around Continuing Health Care (CHC) funding, 
Ordinary Residence rules, NHS Responsible Commissioner 
rules and difficulties engaging with specialist, secure (forensic) 
commissioners.

 • Insufficient support, assurance and challenge. Commissioning 
services for people with such complex needs is a highly-skilled 
job, but we heard that commissioning capacity has reduced 
in many areas, and that in some areas that lack of capacity is 
a significant obstacle to progress. The Concordat has resulted 
in a wide range of useful support for commissioners, from the 
Joint Improvement Partnership (JIP) and others. But there needs 
to be more ‘on-the-job’ support for, and challenge or assurance of, 
the drawing up of local commissioning plans to ensure that they 
are sufficiently robust. Critically, there must be a strong role for 
people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families 
in providing that support and challenge. 

5.3. To overcome these barriers, we believe national organisations 
such as NHS England, departments across Government, other  
Arms-Length Bodies and the LGA need to play a more robust 
leadership role – unblocking barriers and devolving funding, 
setting out a mandatory framework for local commissioners 
to follow, and providing more support and assurance to local 
commissioners as they do so. 

5.4. NHS England should devolve the budget and responsibility for 
commissioning services for this group as much as possible from 
NHS specialised commissioning to Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs), so that local commissioners are more clearly incentivised 

34 LGA & NHS England, Winterbourne View Joint Improvement Programme: 
Stocktake of progress report (2013) 

Page 41



26

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

to ensure there is adequate community-based provision, and 
admitting an individual to a secure bed is never the ‘easy option’ 
for local commissioners. NHS England and its partners at a national 
level should also remove the systemic barriers that make it harder 
for local commissioners to invest more in community-based 
provision and to disinvest in inpatient beds, such as the difficulties 
local commissioners report having as a result of Ordinary Residence 
rules, Responsible Commissioner rules and eligibility for Continuing 
Health Care funding. 

5.5. Through a mandatory framework, NHS England should 
require local NHS commissioners to pool their spending with 
commissioners of social care and housing services for adults 
with learning disabilities who present behaviour that challenges, 
and mandate them to produce a single, outcomes-focused plan 
for using that spending, covering a period of a number of years. 
Clearly, the successful engagement of local government is critical 
here. Whilst NHS England cannot mandate local authorities to 
commission in a particular way, it should seek to work with others 
(the LGA, ADASS, DCLG, DH) to ensure that the commissioning 
framework is fit for purpose from a local government perspective, 
and that the local authorities are fully engaged as equal partners 
in the drawing up of joint local plans. The NHS should also make 
the pooling of budgets dependent on that engagement. 

5.6. Local plans should be required to follow a basic mandatory 
framework, answering questions such as: 

 • What the measurable objectives the plan aims to achieve 
(e.g. what improvements in health, wellbeing and independence 
we want to see, what reduction in need for inpatient provision 
we want to see, or what reduction in use of ‘out-of-area’ 
inpatient placements, over what timeframe).

 • How those goals will be achieved (taking into consideration 
what we know to be key to success, as set out in existing literature 
such as the Mansell reports35 and Ensuring Quality Services,36 and 
including how the rights of people with learning disabilities and/
or autism and their families will be made real, as above, and how 
the local workforce will be developed, as below).

 • How the plan ensures local services take a whole life-course 
approach. Appropriate services need to be available for children, 
young people and adults, with efforts to prevent the need for 
inpatient services starting in early childhood, and an effective 
approach in place to managing transition from children’s services 
or residential education to community-based adult services. 
We heard throughout our work that more effective support 
for children and better transition between children’s and adults’ 
services will be critical earlier intervention in childhood and 
improving the transitions between will be critical.

35 J. Mansell, Services for People with Learning Disabilities and Challenging 
Behaviour of Mental Health Needs (1993), and revised edition (2007)

36 LGA & NHS England, Ensuring Quality Services (2014)

Page 42



Recommendations

27 • Who is responsible for success, including at senior leadership 
level, and with a single lead commissioner clearly identified. 

 • What analysis of current and future need has been undertaken. 

 • How these plans have been co-produced with people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism and their families, providers 
and clinicians. Local providers should be brought together in 
a forum to collaborate with one another and with commissioners 
to ensure comprehensive local services are available. 

5.7. The commissioning framework should also describe the kind of 
approach to commissioning we need to see. For instance, we believe 
commissioners need to:

 • Take a more proactive, long-term approach – planning what 
kind of services will need to be in place for people from 
childhood onwards, rather than reacting to crises as they emerge. 

 • Take a more collaborative approach to engaging with providers. 
Commissioners need to stimulate the market, encouraging the 
entry and development of smaller, more innovative providers. 
They also need to engage with providers more proactively 
in planning services for individuals and for the population 
as a whole, giving providers greater opportunities to put 
forward alternative options. The commissioning framework 
should make clear that this is both entirely permissible under 
procurement law and to be actively encouraged. 

 • Take a more outcomes-based approach, so that payment is 
increasingly linked to outcomes for people, rather than hours 
of support provided. 

5.8. Alongside the commissioning framework set out above, there 
needs to be more support and assurance from NHS England, the 
Department of Health and the LGA, who should build on the 
work of the Winterbourne View Joint Improvement Partnership 
and provide more intensive, ‘on-the-job’, action-focused support 
to local commissioners, helping them to draw up and implement 
commissioning plans as above, and to extend the uptake of personal 
budgets. To ensure that local plans are realistic and robust, NHS 
England and the LGA should also scrutinise and assure them. 
This process should also involve scrutiny by panels (at local and 
national level) of people with learning disabilities and/or autism 
and their families. Local commissioners that submit plans which 
are insufficiently ambitious or robust should be given extra support 
to improve them. 

5.9. In pursuing this agenda, NHS England and its national partners 
should learn from the strengths and weaknesses of the Better 
Care Fund,37 which also mandated the pooling of budgets, and 

37 The Better Care Fund is a £3.8 billion budget, pooling health and social care 
funding, to support transformation and integration of health and social care 
services. More detail can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/
transformation-fund/bcf-plan/ 

Page 43

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/


28

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

the drawing up of local joint plans with support and assurance from 
the centre.

5.10. Alongside the model above, the commissioning framework 
should include measures to facilitate swift, safe discharge from 
inpatient settings back into the community, such as a standard 
contract that includes financial incentives for inpatient providers 
to focus on discharge planning. Currently, the way in which many 
inpatient providers are contracted gives them no financial incentive 
to focus on discharge planning from day one (and indeed they may 
be financially incentivised to keep as many beds full for as long as 
possible). That should change, so that contracts incentivise the kind 
of behaviour we want from inpatient providers – including planning 
for the earliest possible, safe discharge from the point of admission. 

6. Community-based providers should be given a ‘right to propose 
alternatives’ to inpatient care 

6.1. We heard that a barrier to discharge is often that responsible 
clinicians in inpatient settings will be concerned that appropriate 
support is not available in the community, and struggle to see 
how an appropriate community-based support package (potentially 
including continued assessment, treatment and safeguarding) 
could realistically be put into place. That can then lead to decisions 
that it is too early to discharge, or start planning for discharge. 
To tackle this, community-based providers considered by local 
commissioners to be of sufficient quality and reliability, and given 
permission by individuals or their families, should be given the 
ability to understand the detailed needs and wishes of people in 
inpatient settings (through access to information, clinicians or the 
individual and their family), upon which basis they can put forward 
a potential package of community-based support for consideration 
by the individual, their family, the commissioner and the responsible 
clinician. This should be an opportunity for people who can put 
together innovative solutions – providers, voluntary organisations, 
support brokers, advocates – to take the initiative. 

 Closures

7. The commissioning framework should be accompanied by a by a closure 
programme of inappropriate institutional inpatient facilities, driven by 
tougher registration requirements, local closure plans, and leadership 
by NHS England 

7.1. We are clear that there must be closures of inpatient institutions: 

 • The presumption, in the twenty-first century, ought to be that 
people with learning disabilities and/or autism live in the 
community, not in hospitals 

 • People with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families 
have been very clear that this is what they want. Some, such as 
the self-advocacy groups who submitted their views to us via 
CHANGE, argued that all hospitals for people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism should be shut. Others believe some 

Page 44



Recommendations

29hospitals should remain open, providing a high-quality, locally-
integrated service more clearly focused on assessment, treatment 
and discharge – but they want the number reduced. Some 
suggested that it is learning disability-specific mental health 
facilities which should be closed, with universal mental health 
services making the necessary adjustments to be inclusive of 
people with learning disabilities alongside others. Whatever 
the precise way forward, the consensus in favour of significant 
closures is clear.

 • This is also an assumption already signed up to by stakeholders 
across the system via the Concordat that followed Winterbourne 
view. The Concordat was clear that currently too many people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism are admitted to inpatient 
settings when admission could have been avoided, too many 
stay too long, and so too many are in inpatient settings at any 
one time. The corollary is that we have too many inpatient beds, 
some of which should be closed. 

7.2. So we are crystal clear that there must be closures. But we are also 
clear those closures must be implemented in the right way: 

 • A guiding principle should be ‘above all, do no harm’ – closures 
must be accompanied by more and better community-based 
support in place, and must be driven by what is best for people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism and that alone. 

 • We must not close down one set of institutions only for another 
to appear. People with learning disabilities and/or autism and 
their families were clear that small residential care homes and 
group homes can be ‘institutions’ in that they can be places 
where people don’t choose who to live with or how to spend 
their time and don’t feel like home. We have also heard fears that 
some inpatient hospitals could simply ‘rebadge’ as residential 
care or nursing homes. We need to ensure that the community 
services we replace hospitals with are genuinely what people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism want, and the CQC needs 
to be vigilant against allowing hospitals simply to go on providing 
the same institutional care under a different label. 

 • To say we should close inpatient wards is not the same as 
saying we do not need all the people who work in them, with 
the expertise that they have. Whilst care in inpatient settings 
is of variable quality, in places people are providing assessment, 
treatment and support to the highest standard. Some of that 
assessment, treatment and support can and should be provided 
in the community, in people’s own homes. The packages of 
support people need to live in the community are likely to require 
input from professionals such as support staff, psychologists, 
occupational therapists, psychiatrists, nurses, some of whom 
are likely now to be employed in inpatient providers. The shift 
in care we are seeking is more likely to require professionals to 
work in different ways and different settings than to stop being 
involved altogether. The professionals working in inpatient 

Page 45



30

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

settings need to be part of the solution, and part of the remit 
of the national Academy we propose below must be to help make 
that happen as part of a managed transition. 

7.3. Given the consensus that we currently have more inpatient 
provision than we should need, we propose that the CQC should 
act as a market entry regulator and work with local commissioners 
to determine any future registrations of planned local assessment 
and treatment or inpatient units. It should announce that after a 
transitional period, it will significantly raise the quality threshold 
that inpatient settings will need to meet, including measures such 
as size of institution and average length of stay taken into account 
in regulatory judgments (recognising that appropriate length of stay 
will vary according to need). Any inpatient settings that fail to meet 
the bar should be considered in breach of the relevant fundamental 
standards. The approach needs to be ambitious, overt and public, 
such that it sends a clear message to providers about what the 
future holds. 

7.4. Earlier in this report we proposed a mandatory commissioning 
framework for commissioners of health and social care services, 
with local commissioners required to draw up a plan for reducing 
reliance on inpatient beds, and that plan then scrutinised and 
assured by national system leaders with the involvement of 
people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families. 
Part of that planning process should include a forecast for the 
number of inpatient beds each area believes it should have, based 
on a population needs assessment. This should be developed in 
partnership with others people with learning disabilities and/
or autism and their families. A plan to actively decommission any 
beds surplus to that requirement, together with the transfer of 
skilled staff into community services where appropriate, can then 
follow. These local closure programmes should be implemented 
in close collaboration with people with learning disabilities and/
or autism, their families and providers. 

7.5. Finally, NHS England, as a direct commissioner of many inpatient 
services, should also decommission inpatient services that it 
currently pays for that are surplus to need. It should seek to start 
doing this at the earliest opportunity, sending a clear signal to the 
provider market about the direction of travel. 

7.6. NHS England should set out a clear timeline for a closure 
programme of institutions which do not accord with the model of 
care that the Government committed to following the Winterbourne 
View scandal38. We have heard differing views on what that timeline 
should look like. The Housing and Support Allowance suggested to 
us that the number of people with learning disabilities and/or autism 
in inpatient settings could be reduced to 1,500 and admissions 
reduced 75% by 2018. Groups of people with learning disabilities 
brought together by CHANGE called for an end to admissions 

38 Department of Health, Transforming Care: a national response to Winterbourne 
View hospital (2012) 

Page 46



Recommendations

31in three years, and all institutions specifically for people with 
learning disabilities to be closed after that – though some people 
with learning disabilities also said that they wanted better-quality, 
smaller and more local inpatient services to remain. Some local areas 
will be able to achieve change quicker than others. The picture is 
mixed. NHS England should come to a considered, realistic view 
on what is possible – but then it should set out a clear timetable not 
just for reductions in admissions or inpatient numbers (as has been 
tried unsuccessfully to date), but for closures of institutions. 

 Building capacity in the community

8. Health Education England, Skills for Care, Skills for Health and 
partners should develop as a priority a national workforce ‘Academy’ 
in this field, building on the work already started by Professors Allen 
and Hastings and colleagues 

8.1. We will only successfully prevent people with learning disabilities 
and/or autism and challenging behaviour needing to be admitted 
to inpatient settings, and discharge those currently in hospitals, 
if we can achieve a major expansion, and major improvement in 
quality, of community-based support services (including robust 
preventative and pro-active care that starts before problems 
manifest, care coordination and brokerage, advocacy, appropriate 
housing, care and support, multi-disciplinary community learning 
disability teams, crisis support and respite services). Without that 
expansion and improvement in quality, people will continue to have 
crises and be admitted to inpatient institutions, and many people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism, their families, clinicians 
and commissioners, will continue to be nervous about discharge 
from hospital back into the community. 

8.2. We heard a consistently strong message that building the skills 
of the workforce (from care assistants to doctors and nurses to 
commissioners) should be a major priority here. Critically, this 
support should be available to family carers too, who should be 
recognised as fundamental partners in care.

8.3. As a result of the programme of work set in train following the 
Winterbourne View scandal, we now have a significantly enhanced 
and growing corpus of best practice guidance on working with 
people who display challenging behaviour (the Concordat has 
led, for instance, to a wide range of new or updated guidance 
for commissioners, social workers, clinicians, healthcare support 
workers, universal services on reasonable adjustments and more). 
There are also academics, trainers, providers and commissioners 
across the country with real expertise in supporting people with 
challenging behaviour in the community. There is a range of 
guidance on how local commissioners and providers can embed 
this good practice through workforce development. 

8.4. What is needed now is a concerted programme of action to spread 
that expertise and codified good practice across the workforce, 
significantly expanding on the provision already available. 

Page 47



32

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

The proposal put together by Professor Richard Hastings and 
Professor David Allen for an ‘Academy’ to deliver that39 is persuasive, 
particularly in its articulation of the need for a programme of 
action that: 

 • has two clear goals: firstly, supporting the system transformation 
that we hope to see in the immediate future in localities across 
the country as we build capacity in community services and 
reduce reliance on inpatient provision, and secondly, supporting 
the continued long-term development of the workforce in 
services for people with learning disabilities and/or autism 
who display challenging behaviour. 

 • achieves those goals through: 

 – a programme of training and development available 
to stakeholders across the system (local leaders of 
commissioning agencies and provider organisations, provider 
staff, clinicians, families and carers, individuals with learning 
disabilities themselves). This needs to focus both on providers 
of long-term care and support, but also on the community 
‘infrastructure’ that providers, people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism and their families need to be able 
to rely on, particularly to manage crises – community learning 
disability teams, psychologists and psychiatrists able to assess 
people where they are living and develop appropriate support 
plans, and so on. 

 – quality kite-marking or accreditation (of training providers 
and of support providers, whose variable quality we heard 
is a major issue for commissioners and people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism and their families) and 

 – supporting the continued development of a bank of evidence, 
best practice, minimum standards, toolkits and guidance.

 • brings together and helps coordinate (rather than seeking 
to replace or replicate) the large number of organisations and 
individual experts already working to build the skills of the 
workforce in this area – including many people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism themselves and their families. 

8.5. We believe any such programme of action should include a clear role 
for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families, 
who should be employed to help deliver it. 

8.6. We are also clear that any programme along these lines needs 
to be action-focused – at least in the immediate future, as much 
a national taskforce or action programme as an ‘academy’, closely 
aligned to the mandatory change programme that we set out above. 
But whatever the name, we have heard a clear consensus (from 
people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families, 
providers, commissioners, clinicians, academic experts) that there 

39 The original proposal is available at https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B_
At2T3XSWfTd2VOcTRrOURMZW8/edit?pli=1

Page 48

https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B_At2T3XSWfTd2VOcTRrOURMZW8/edit?pli=1
https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B_At2T3XSWfTd2VOcTRrOURMZW8/edit?pli=1


Recommendations

33is a pressing need for urgent and significant investment in workforce 
development in this field. We therefore recommend that Health 
Education England, Skills for Care, and Skills for Health build 
on the momentum generated by Professor Hastings’ and Professor 
Allen’s proposal, working with them and stakeholders across the 
system (including in the self-advocacy movement and the voluntary 
sector), to fully scope out the gaps in training and development 
of staff caring for those with a learning disability and/or autism 
who display challenging behaviour, and then develop a national 
academy along these lines to expand and develop existing good 
practice and to fill the identified gaps.   

9. A ‘Life in the Community’ Social Investment Fund should be established 
to facilitate transitions out of inpatient facilities and build capacity in 
community-based services.

9.1. The conundrum we currently face is that people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism, their families, clinicians and 
commissioners are nervous of keeping people out of inpatient 
settings, or discharging them more quickly, in the absence of 
stronger community-based services. Providers of community-based 
services, on the other hand, are nervous of investing in expanding 
their offer in the absence of greater certainty that those services 
will be called on by commissioners and clinicians. 

9.2. The risk we are asking providers of community-based services 
to take here is significant: for any one person with learning 
disabilities who displays behaviour that challenges, a support 
provider may need to recruit and train a number of support workers. 
In some cases, where suitable accommodation might not be 
available, a housing provider might need to make adaptations to 
existing stock or even invest in new buildings. The local community 
learning disability team might need to invest in recruiting and 
training more staff (nurses, psychologists, psychiatrists, GPs, speech 
and language therapists, occupational therapists) to provide support 
as and when it is needed. This recruitment, training and occasionally 
investment in property would need to happen months in advance 
of a person moving in or starting to receive the support, and the 
provider(s) being paid for delivering it. 

9.3. We can reduce the risk that we are asking providers to take by 
reforming commissioning and clinical practice, so that providers 
have greater confidence that if they invest in expanding community 
services, there will in fact be take-up. Our hope is that our other 
recommendations will do that. A mandatory framework should shift 
commissioning practice – particularly by requiring commissioners 
to engage with providers in drawing up local plans, to pool budgets 
and thereby make for more flexible revenue streams, and to set 
clear targets for shifting care out of inpatient settings and into 
the community. Strengthening the rights of people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism and their families should make it easier 
for people who want and can be cared for in the community rather 
than inpatient settings to avoid admission or speed up discharge. 

Page 49



34

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

Our proposed reforms to the commissioning of inpatient settings 
should do the same. But even with these changes to commissioning 
practice, we will still be asking providers to take a big risk by 
investing large sums of money in expanding community provision, 
without certainty that those services will be called on or adequately 
commissioned. And we are making this ask of a set of providers, 
often in the voluntary or public sectors, many of whom do not have 
significant capital of their own to invest, and who are unable, unused 
or unwilling to access capital from investors. 

9.4. We therefore believe there is a strong case for making such 
investment capital more easily available, so that community-based 
services can be expanded more quickly. 

9.5. We recommend that the Government should allocate £30 million 
from LIBOR fines or other sources to a ‘Life in the Community’ 
Social Investment Fund – in other words, an investment vehicle 
with a social mission to improve outcomes for people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism who display challenging 
behaviour in the community. 

9.6. That investment fund should use its capital to leverage that of 
other investors, so that the pool of capital ultimately available would 
be multiples of whatever endowment it received from NHS England 
or the Department of Health. Research commissioned for this 
steering group and published alongside this report40 suggests 
that public investment of the order of the above could leverage 
investment from others such that the size of the fund might 
ultimately reach some £200 million. Over time, funds received from 
the sale of any public sector inpatient units could also be channelled 
into this fund. Sitting alongside a mandatory commissioning 
framework, and a national academy aimed at developing the skills 
of the workforce across the system, it should catalyse an injection 
of investment into community-based services during the period 
of transformation we envisage over the next few years. It should 
do this by addressing three needs: 

a) Above all, a need for working capital to enable a range of 
providers to scale up community-based services in advance of 
that support being commissioned and made use of – including 
services that can help make transitions happen, such as 
independent advocacy and brokerage.

b) In some local areas and for some individuals, a need for capital 
to secure suitable housing – a need which may grow if we are to 
see the kind of shift from inpatient provision to community-based 
support that we hope to achieve. 

c) A need to build up investment-ready partnerships or consortia 
of local providers, from across the public, private and voluntary 
sectors. Building successful community services is likely to 
involve a significant degree of partnership working between a 
range of individual organisations in one local area, and it is also 

40 Resonance, Winterbourne View and Social Investment (2014)

Page 50



Recommendations

35likely to require smaller, more innovative providers to be able 
to engage with commissioners. 

9.7.  To address these two capital needs, the Government-backed fund 
we are proposing should start by exploring three potential inter-
linked solutions, namely: 

a) A ‘payment for outcomes’ fund, whereby investment would 
be advanced to community-based services upfront, for example 
to fund working capital to increase staffing teams and also some 
specialist property adaptations, and the investors would be 
repaid their investment by commissioners when and only when 
a reduction in inpatient provision had been safely achieved 
because more people were being successfully supported in the 
community. The research commissioned for this report suggests 
that seed funding of £10 million from NHS England and/or the 
Government could result in a £30 million payment for outcomes 
fund.41 Clearly, any outcomes-based commissioning would need 
to be carefully designed to avoid perverse incentives, learning 
from other outcomes-based commissioning models across 
public services. 

b) A linked social property fund, whereby a fund would acquire 
properties and refurbish them if necessary, before leasing those 
properties to housing providers. The research commissioned 
to support this report suggests that seed funding of £10 million 
from NHS England and/or the Government could result in a 
social property fund of up to £200 million.42 For such a fund 
to work, it will be essential to ensure that any future welfare 
reforms do not inadvertently make it uneconomic to build or 
adapt homes for people with learning disabilities and/or autism 
by capping housing benefit for this group at a level too low to 
justify investment in their housing. We are also clear that this 
fund must be to finance the building or acquisition of homes to 
suit individual needs – not to build homes that risk becoming a 
new set of smaller institutions. This will be achieved by ensuring 
that the fund is focused on its social impact mission from the 
start, as well as being a viable and scalable investment vehicle. 

c) Additionally, a £10 million ‘market development fund’, building 
on similar initiatives by the Cabinet Office, which would support 
the building of local partnerships or consortia and support them 
to be ‘investment-ready’, as well as supporting smaller, more 
innovative providers to expand their services. 

9.8. Excerpts from the Resonance report can be found in the appendices, 
setting out how the ‘payment for outcomes’ fund and linked social 
property fund could work in more detail. 

41 Resonance, Winterbourne View and Social Investment (2014)
42 Resonance, Winterbourne View and Social Investment (2014) 

Page 51



36

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

 Holding people to account

10. Action on the recommendations above should be accompanied 
by improved collection and publication of performance data, and a 
monitoring framework at central and local level. Data on key indicators 
(such as admissions rates, length of stay, delayed transfers, number of beds 
by commissioning authority) should be collected and published. Both local 
commissioners and all relevant national bodies should be held to account 
for implementing our recommendations above. 

10.1. Local commissioners should be held to account by local people, 
including those with learning disabilities and/or autism and their 
families (for instance through learning disability partnership boards 
or similar). They should also be held to account by NHS England. 

10.2. National bodies should be held to account through existing 
governance structures that include people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism (such as the Transforming Care Assurance 
Board co-chaired by the Minister for Care and Support and 
Gavin Harding MBE). 

Page 52



Appendix 1

37APPENDIX 1 
MEMBERSHIP OF 
THE STEERING GROUP 

Sir Stephen Bubb (chair)   ACEVO

Jane Cummings   NHS England 

Andrea Pope-Smith   ADASS 

Andrea Sutcliffe/Alan Rosenbach   CQC 

Bob Ricketts   NHS England

Dave Williams   Salford CCG

Dominic Slowie   NHS England 

Dr Roger Banks   Independent Psychiatrist 

Gavin Harding    Co-Chair, Department of Health 
Transforming Care Assurance Group 

Hazel Watson   NHS England 

Jan Tregelles   Mencap

Juliet Beal    NHS England 

Karen Flood    National Forum of People with 
Learning Disabilities

Kate Quail    Mencap

Mark Lever/Mark Milton   National Autistic Society  

Robert Longley-Cook    HFT

Sharon Allen/Marie Lovell   Skills for Care

Shaun Clee    NHS Confederation/ 
2gether NHS Foundation Trust

Steve James   Avenues Group

Vicki Raphael  National Valuing Families Forum

Vivien Cooper    Challenging Behaviour Foundation 

Page 53



38

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

APPENDIX 2 
‘WE HAVE THE RIGHT’ 
STATEMENT 

In June 2014, CHANGE and Lumos organised an event to discuss closing 
institutions for people with learning disabilities. 100 people with learning 
disabilities attended, from 35 self-advocacy groups. CHANGE then 
consulted with this group in drawing up a document – ‘We Have the 
Right’ – submitted to the steering group responsible for this report. The 
text of the document is below, and available at www.changepeople.org/
blog-and-news/we-have-the-right-have-your-say-on-institutions-now/. 

“People with learning disabilities have the same rights as everyone else. 
No one should be made to live where they don’t want to live, just because 
they need support.

Yet tens of thousands of people with learning disabilities in Britain do 
not have this right and they should.

Institutions should be closed and replaced with ways of supporting people 
with learning disabilities which allow us to live in ordinary homes, in our 
community, with the people we choose. 

Institutions aren’t just big buildings. Some small buildings like residential 
care homes and group homes are really institutions, because they are places 
where people don’t get to choose who to live with and how to spend their 
time and they don’t feel like home. No kind of institution should be seen 
as acceptable. 

Before someone moves into an institution, they and their independent 
advocates should have the right to challenge that decision and to keep 
on challenging it. 

To challenge decisions, people with learning disabilities need to have more 
power. We could have more power if we are able to: 

 • Have high quality easy read information that is quality checked 
by employed people with learning disabilities. 

 • Have Access to a personal budget (such as a Direct Payment) 
or a Personal Health Budget. 

 • Have trained and properly independent advocates to support us to make 
decisions and a person who looks after our personal budget money 
(broker) to support us to spend our money differently. 

 • Be employed and work in support of other people with learning 
disabilities as advocates, peer supporters, service planners 
commissioners and inspectors. 

Page 54

http://www.changepeople.org/blog-and-news/we-have-the-right-have-your-say-on-institutions-now/
http://www.changepeople.org/blog-and-news/we-have-the-right-have-your-say-on-institutions-now/


Appendix 2

39 • Support self advocacy organisations to become sustainable, find 
ways to employ people with learning disabilities and develop peer-to-
peer working. 

 • Have powerful representation from employed people with learning 
disabilities at every point where decisions are made about us. 

 • Make the people who have made decisions about us explain why they 
have made that decision at regular meetings which commissioners 
and directors have to attend. 

 • We want to be involved in the development of a clear transition plan 
supporting people with learning disabilities to move from institutions 
into community based living. 

 • That every Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Local Health and 
Wellbeing strategy is made to show clearly how it considers the needs 
of people with learning disabilities, and steps they are taking to ensure 
people with learning disabilities have greater power. 

 • Councils and the NHS must be made to stop admitting anyone else 
with learning disabilities into residential care and nursing homes within 
the next 3 years. 

 • Councils and the NHS must be told that all residential care homes 
and nursing homes must close within 10 years, and people with learning 
disabilities supported to move into their own home, living with only 
the people they choose to live with. 

 • CHANGE and the self-advocacy groups want to come up with 
a definition of institution.” 

Page 55



40

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

APPENDIX 3 
CHALLENGING BEHAVIOUR 
NATIONAL STRATEGY 
GROUP CHARTER

Members of the Challenging Behaviour National Strategy Group43 believe 
that better support and services could be provided for children and adults 
who are perceived as challenging, and have developed a charter which 
sets out the rights of these individuals and the action that needs to be 
taken. The text of the Charter is reproduced below and is also available 
at www.challengingbehaviour.org.uk/strategy-group/charter.html.

 Rights and values

1. People will be supported to exercise their human rights (which are the 
same as everyone else’s) to be healthy, full and valued members of their 
community with respect for their culture, ethnic origin, religion, age, 
gender, sexuality and disability.

2. All children who are at risk of presenting behavioural challenges 
have the right to have their needs identified at an early stage, leading  
to co-ordinated early intervention and support.

3. All families have the right to be supported to maintain the physical 
and emotional wellbeing of the family unit.

4. All individuals have the right to receive person centred support and 
services that are developed on the basis of a detailed understanding 
of their support needs including their communication needs. This will 
be individually-tailored, flexible, responsive to changes in individual 
circumstances and delivered in the most appropriate local situation.

5. People have the right to a healthy life, and be given the appropriate support 
to achieve this.

6. People have the same rights as everyone else to a family and social life, 
relationships, housing, education, employment and leisure.

7. People have the right to supports and services that create capable 
environments. These should be developed on the principles of positive 
behavioural support and other evidence based approaches. They should 
also draw from additional specialist input as needed and respond to all 
the needs of the individual.

43 More information about the Group and who it involves is available at  
www.challengingbehaviour.org.uk/strategy-group/strategy-group.html 

Page 56

http://www.challengingbehaviour.org.uk/strategy-group/charter.html
http://www.challengingbehaviour.org.uk/strategy-group/strategy-group.html


Appendix 3

418. People have the right not to be hurt or damaged or humiliated in any 
way by interventions. Support and services must strive to achieve this.

9. People have the right to receive support and care based on good and up 
to date evidence.

 Action to be taken

1. Children’s and adults’ services will construct long term collaborative 
plans across education, social and health services and jointly develop 
and commission support and services to meet the needs of children and 
adults with learning disabilities, their families and carers.

2. Local Authorities and the NHS will develop and co-ordinate plans to: 

 • Reduce the exposure of young children with learning disabilities 
to environmental conditions that may lead to behavioural challenges.

 • Promote the resilience of young children with learning disabilities 
who face such environmental conditions.

 • Provide early intervention, support and services that will meet the 
individual needs (including communication needs) of young children 
who are showing early signs of developing behavioural challenges.

3. Active listening to the needs of the family will lead to the provision 
of appropriate and timely support, information and training.

4. People will be supported to have a good quality of life by individuals 
with the right values, attitudes, training and experience.

5. The NHS and services will proactively plan to ensure that people receive 
the same range, quality and standard of healthcare as everyone else, making 
reasonable adjustments when required. People will have an individualised 
health action plan and be supported to have access to annual health checks 
to ensure all health needs are met.

6. People and their family carers will receive support and services that 
are timely, safe, of good quality, co-ordinated and seamless. They will 
be proactively involved in the planning, commissioning and monitoring 
of support and services including both specialist and general services.

7. A person-centred approach that enables and manages the taking of risk 
will be used to ensure that people have access to family and social life, 
relationships, housing, education, employment and leisure.

8. Local authorities and the NHS will know how many children and adults 
live in their area and how many they have placed out of area. On the basis 
of information from person-centred plans all agencies will plan and deliver 
local support and services.

9. Services will seek to reduce the use of physical intervention, seclusion, 
mechanical restraint and the inappropriate or harmful use of medication 
with the clear aim of eliminating them for each individual.

10. All services and agencies will strive to improve continually, using up to date 
evidence to provide the best support, care and treatment to deliver positive 
outcomes for individuals.

Page 57



42

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

APPENDIX 4 
SUMMARY OF 
RECOMMENDED SOCIAL 
INVESTMENT STRUCTURES 
FROM WINTERBOURNE 
VIEW AND SOCIAL 
INVESTMENT (2014) 

To provide input to the steering group chaired by Sir Stephen Bubb, 
Resonance were commissioned by Big Society Capital and the Social 
Investment Business to produce a report on the potential role for social 
investment in transforming care for people with learning disabilities  
and/or autism. Their report, Winterbourne View and Social Investment, 
is available at www.resonance.ltd.uk. 

Winterbourne View and Social Investment recommends a hybrid approach 
which uses two linked investment structures in a complementary way: 
1) A ’Payment for Outcomes’ Fund to provide working capital funding to 
providers in order to scale up projects and staffing teams as well as specialist 
property adaptations, ultimately funded by longer term savings to health 
budgets, and financed by social investment. 2) A linked Social Property 
Fund to help providers respond to increased property needs if provision was 
significantly scaled, providing a more standardized leased housing option 
across the sector, promoting plurality of providers and localised housing/ 
support choices for individuals, and acting as a focus and catalyst for action. 

Winterbourne View and Social Investment argues that whilst the two 
structures could, in principle, be developed independently, and one could 
exist without the other, in practice there are strong reasons to develop 
the two in a coordinated and complementary way. The report argues 
that Government seed investment/support is needed to kick-start this, 
providing leadership, confidence to investors and sector stakeholders and 
an acceleration of timelines. The report further argues that whilst better 
commissioning alone might in itself reduce net inflows to in-patient facilities, 
without this investment impetus, constraints on providers will continue to 
imply thousands of individuals remaining in this situation for decades to 
come, and the likelihood of future “Winterbourne View” scenarios recurring.

 ‘Payment for Outcomes’ Fund

The purpose of this element of the structure would be to help providers 
to fund the transitional costs of supporting a resident into their new home 
(advocacy/brokerage and staff mobilisation) and any required adaptations 

Page 58

http://www.resonance.ltd.uk


Appendix 4

43that are above and beyond a standard specification which can be 
economically provided by a housing provider (including a Social Property 
Fund) which may be necessary for some tenants but not others. Examples 
of this could be the conversion of a bedroom to a wetroom, all room air 
conditioning, or significant strengthening to the fabric of a building.

This funding vehicle (which could take on a number of different legal 
forms, but is referred to simply below as the Special Purpose Vehicle 
or “SPV”) would have a payment-for-outcomes contract with the 
NHS England (and other commissioners as they are willing) where 
payments would be triggered by clear delivery of sustained support 
and specific positive outcomes for individuals, which would be expected 
to be at a meaningfully reduced cost in the longer term compared with 
the inpatient facility. 

For example, if the expectation was that, in time, a resident could be 
supported at a cost of £1500pw in the community, compared with £2500pw 
in the inpatient facility, then a one-off payment of, say, 50% of this expected 
saving would be paid to the SPV in the event of the provider achieving 
the positive ‘outcome’ for the resident of successfully making this move. 
In this scenario, assuming a sharing of 50% of the expected saving over a 
12 month period, a payment of £26,000 would be paid – an amount which 
could cover the specialist property adaptations, transitional cost of the 
provider and a financial return to investors in the ’Payment for Outcomes’ 
Fund. The report notes that at this stage all figures around expected savings 
are indicative and for illustration purposes only, but the authors point to 
anecdotal evidence of annual expected savings per individual of anywhere 
between £50–125k.

The generic structure of a ’Payment for Outcomes’ Fund is set out below:

 Figure 1: ‘Payment for Outcomes’ Fund

 

Investors

Equity

Fees/Grants/Interest free 
loans to fund transition, 
specialit property adaptations

Evidence of 
outcomes plus 
cost savings

Contract

‘Payment for 
Outcomes’ 

Contract

Person centered 
suppot contract

‘Payment for 
Outcomes’ Fund

‘Payment for 
Outcomes’ Fund

Beneficiaries

Social Impact
Fund Manager

ProvidersCommissioner

Page 59



44

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

Winterbourne View and Social Investment argues that this structure:

 • Meets the needs of the sector to help individuals – based on their 
research, the authors believe that the immediate need is for providers 
to have the working capital and commissioning clarity to scale up 
provision from the relatively small numbers who are currently being 
transferred out of inpatient facilities. A ‘Payment for Outcomes’ 
Fund focuses on these two issues directly. It gives providers the 
data and  contracting certainty to plan for scaling up activity, 
and the capital to do it, rather than simply attempting to respond 
to shorter term, ad hoc commissioner requests.

 • Makes best use of Government support – the main intervention 
from Government would be to ensure that an attractive ‘Payment 
for Outcomes’ contract could be offered. This might involve in the short 
term some payments which were overlapping (eg if block contracts 
for inpatient beds could not be immediately unwound) but would 
ultimately be driving towards savings for Government in this area.

 • Fits with reasonable investor requirements – the report argues there 
is an increasingly developed market of investors who are interested 
in investing in these structures. For example, there is now an impact 
investment fund which is dedicated to the purpose of investing into 
’Payments for Outcomes’ Funds (The Results Fund). 

 • Can be practically delivered – ’Payments for Outcomes’ Funds are 
still a relatively new investment innovation and can take a considerable 
time to develop. However, as the costs funded by the ’Payments for 
Outcomes’ Fund would be approximately 8–12% of the property 
acquisition costs, initially a Fund of just £5–10m would be required 
to complement the first phase of the linked Social Property Fund 
discussed further below. This could focus on an initial cohort, and 
coalition of willing commissioners and providers which could then 
be further expanded and replicated. 

There are a number of more detailed issues which would need to be 
addressed in the next phase of development of such a structure, which 
are dealt with in the Winterbourne View and Social Investment report.

 Social Property Fund

The purpose of this element of the structure would be to give further 
impetus to the supply of specialized housing, in a scenario where providers 
were significantly scaling up activity from current levels.

The fund would acquire properties, and cover all acquisition costs and 
any refurbishment to bring them up to an agreed specification as set out 
in a Framework Agreement, but not very specialist adaptations necessary 
for individual tenants, which would be separately covered by the ‘Payments 
for Outcomes’ Fund described above. The fund would lease the properties 
it acquired to an initially small but inclusive group of approved providers 
with the relationship managed through the Framework Agreement. The 
financial return to investors would be based on the fund being paid Local 
Housing Allowance rates (or variations thereon) for rental but would 
also include capital gain on the property (if any).

Page 60



Appendix 4

45 Figure 2: Social Property Fund

 

Investors

Equity

Ownership

Lease

ContractDebt
Social Property

Funds
Bank/

Bankholders

Beneficiaries

Social Impact
Fund Manager

Properties

The report authors believe that this structure:

 • Meets the needs of the sector to help individuals – the report authors 
found a general unwillingness or inability from many providers to take 
on significant levels of debt. Another recurring theme is that complete 
reliance on a pure private capital model for housing may drive provision 
models back to the scale and perverse incentives that have arguably 
helped create the “Winterbourne View problem”. It is therefore 
necessary to think towards a social investment structure which 
bridges this gap. A property fund makes a clear distinction between 
the providers of investment capital to fund property assets, the users 
of those assets, and the providers of support (even if the last two may 
be the same in many cases). It is also an inherently “open” structure 
which can provide a diverse range of housing and support providers 
with access to those assets on appropriate terms.

 • Makes best use of Government support – a fund structure should not 
require government guarantees of the investment vehicle or additional 
subsidies. It would seek to offer investors a risk adjusted return on 
their investment as a market based solution to the capital need of 
this initiative. However, it could be seeded by initial investment from 
identified Government funding sources which would provide initial 
impetus and encourage private sector investment. 

 • Fits with reasonable investor requirements – a property fund is 
a transparent and recognizable structure for investors. It can take 
initial “seed” investment from a small number of initial founding 
investors (including Government) and use this to attract further 
investment, potentially up to large amounts (£100–300m) which 
would be very difficult for individual service providers to raise 
on their own balance sheets. 

Page 61



46

Winterbourne 
View – Time 
for Change

 • Can be practically delivered – there are established models for property 
funds which can be delivered within reasonable budgets and timing, 
and which can move from initial smaller scale structures to larger scale 
structures in due course. By avoiding direct Government guarantees 
and subsidy, and by dealing with specialist property adaptations 
through the linked ‘Payment for Outcomes Fund’, it is also inherently 
scalable to address large scale capital needs for the sector.

There are a number of more detailed issues which would need to be 
addressed in the next phase of development of such a structure which 
are dealt with in the Winterbourne View and Social Investment report.

Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Amanda Doyle, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group  

Relevant Cabinet Member  

 

Councillor Simon Blackburn, Leader of the Council 

Date of Meeting  

 

28
th

 January 2015  

 

NEXT STEPS TO PRIMARY CARE CO-COMMISSIONING  
 

1.0 

 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1.1 This report gives a summary of the NHS England paper ‘Next steps towards primary 

care co-commissioning’ published in November 2014. ‘Next steps’ offers Clinical 

Commissioning Groups the opportunity to assume greater power and influence over 

the commissioning of primary medical care from April 2015. It gives Clinical 

Commissioning Groups the opportunity to choose one of three co-commissioning 

models as follows:  

• Greater involvement in primary care decision-making – potential for 

involvement in discussions but no decision-making role. No new governance 

arrangements will be required as this is unlikely to create any increased 

conflicts of interest 

• Joint commissioning arrangements – jointly with NHS England area teams 

through a joint committee. New governance arrangements will be required 

• Delegated commissioning arrangements – full responsibility for 

commissioning general practice services delegated to Clinical Commissioning 

Group. New governance arrangements will be required 

 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 

 

2.1 

 

 

To note that Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group has submitted an application to 

NHS England, to take on full delegated arrangements from April 2015.  

 

2.2 To note that Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group has discussed the principles of 

co-commissioning primary care services with practices and has received 

overwhelming support and confidence of the ability of the Clinical Commissioning 

Group to deliver this.  Amendments have been made to the Clinical Commissioning 

Group’s constitution including the approach to managing conflicts of interest.   

 

 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

 

 

3.0 

 

Reasons for recommendation(s):  

3.1 

 
• Primary care co-commissioning is one of the changes set out in the NHS Five 

Year Forward View. Co-commissioning is a key enabler in developing 

seamless, integrated out-of-hospital services, driving the development of new 

models of care 

• Co-commissioning will give CCGs more control of the wider NHS budget, 

enabling a shift in investment from acute to primary and community services. 

Delegated responsibility for commissioning supports delivery of our strategic 

plan, giving us the ability to shift resources into primary care. This will ensure 

that we are able to design and implement effective incentive systems, that 

enable us to control secondary care spending and reallocate funding to our 

out of hospital strategies 

• Primary care co-commissioning is the beginning of a longer journey towards 

‘place-based commissioning’ where different commissioners come together to 

jointly agree commissioning strategies and plans, using pooled funds for 

services for a local population. Delegated responsibility will enable Blackpool 

CCG to successfully implement our five year strategic plan and shorter term 

delivery plan to fully integrate primary, community and social care services, 

including mental health services, within neighbourhoods, based around groups 

of GP Practices and larger population based delivery of care.  Extending the 

role of primary care increases the local offer to our resident population. 

 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 

approved by the Council? 

 

 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 

budget?   

 

 

Yes 

3.3 

 

Other alternative options to be considered: 

 None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 

 

 

 

 

4.0 Council Priority: 

 

4.1 The relevant Council Priorities are:  

 

• Safeguard and protect the most vulnerable  

• Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged   

 

5.0 Background Information 

 

5.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2 

Strategic Aims  

 

In addition to the points made in under reasons for recommendations, delegated 

responsibility will enable Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Groups to move at pace to 

develop new local enhanced services and take the opportunity to vary existing 

contracts to deliver its strategy.   

 

Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group has strong working relationships with 

practices and will continue to work closely with them, using robust data to 

benchmark quality outcomes and where appropriate, to support practices and 

neighbourhoods to improve quality, reduce variation and improve the patient 

experience.  Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group has a track record of using this 

approach, combining regular supply of benchmarked data, as well as individual 

practice visits reviewing clinical outcomes, prescribing information and utilisation of 

resource.  

 

The Clinical Commissioning Group has an established primary care development work 

stream within its existing structure, which benefits the whole system through 

primary care expertise and local knowledge to help shape the overall strategy.  It has 

actively engaged constituent practices and has well established means of 

communication and involvement with Practice Managers, Practice Nurses and GPs. 

 

Services in scope 2015-2016 and considerations for 2016-2017   

 

The scope in 2015-2016 is general practice services only. Clinical Commissioning 

Groups will have the opportunity to discuss dental, eye health and community 

pharmacy commissioning with their area team and local professional networks but 

will have no formal decision-making role. Extending Clinical Commissioning Group 

responsibility in dental, eye health and community pharmacy will be considered for 

2016-2017. 

Page 67



 

5.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.4 

Joint commissioning and full delegated commissioning arrangements in general 

practice services 

 

This will include: 

General practice commissioning (GMS, PMS and APMS contracts), including 

the design of PMS and APMS contracts, monitoring of contracts and practice 

performance management, primary care commissioning budget 

management, complaints management, taking contractual action such as 

issuing branch/remedial notices, and removing a contract 

 

Newly designed enhanced services (LES and DES) 

 

Clinical Commissioning Groups assisting and supporting NHS England in 

securing continuous improvement in the quality of primary medical services 

 

Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to QOF 

 

Review and plan primary medical services by varying or renewing existing 

contracts for primary care provision, including establishment of new GP 

practices, and approving practice mergers 

 

Individual GP performance management  

 

Co-commissioning excludes all functions relating to individual GP performance 

management (medical performers’ list, appraisal and revalidation).  NHS England will 

continue to be responsible for administration of payments and list management. The 

terms of GMS contracts and nationally determined elements of PMS and APMS 

contracts will continue to be set out in regulations and directions and cannot be 

varied by Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 

5.5 

 

 

Governance  

 

NHS England has developed a model governance framework for delegated 

commissioning arrangements to support Clinical Commissioning Groups.  A new 

national framework for conflicts of interest in primary care co-commissioning, was 

published in December 2014. This guidance recommends that Clinical Commissioning 

Groups establish a Primary Care Commissioning Committee, to oversee the exercise 

of the delegated functions. This committee will be chaired by a Lay Member and have 

a Lay and Executive majority.  A local Health Watch representative and a local 

authority representative from the Health and Wellbeing Board will join the 

committee as non-voting attendees.  

 

 

Page 68



There will be national training for lay members to support and strengthen their role. 

There will be a strengthened approach to the register of interests and a register of 

procurement decisions. 

 

 

 

NHS England will develop a revised Clinical Commissioning Group Assurance 

Framework for 2015-2016 which will include on-going assurance of primary care co-

commissioning arrangements, in particular, governance arrangements and conflicts 

of interest. 

 

5.6 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 

No 

5.7 List of Appendices:  

 

 

 

None 

 

6.0 Legal considerations:  

 

6.1 None 

 

7.0 Human Resources considerations:  

 

7.1 None 

 

8.0 

 

8.1 

Equalities considerations:  

 

None 

  

9.0 Financial considerations: 

 

9.1 

 

Co-commissioning will give Clinical Commissioning Groups more control of the wider 

NHS budget, enabling a shift in investment from acute to primary and community 

services and reallocation of funding to our out of hospital strategies.   

 

Primary care co-commissioning is a key enabler in moving towards ‘placed based 

commissioning’, where commissioners will come together to jointly agree 

commissioning strategies and plans, using pooled funds for services for a local 

population. 

 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 

 

10.1 

 

 

 

Clinical Commissioning Groups have the responsibility for the majority of healthcare 

commissioned services, yet to date have been unable to fully join up their 

commissioning plans and utilise a broader range of commissioning ‘levers’ to cover 

general practice. 

Page 69



 

10.2 

 

 

 

10.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10.5 

 

 

 

Clinical Commissioning Groups currently have to rely on the much more distant Area 

Teams (ATs) to commission services, with their lack of local knowledge and 

underdeveloped relationships with local practices. 

 

Transactional elements of commissioning have been difficult to progress effectively, 

including such things as premises development and the transformational agenda. 

 

The current model of commissioning has not worked and that it is now essential that 

Clinical Commissioning Groups are able to become much more engaged in local 

commissioning of general practice 

 

Under the current model of commissioning, Clinical Commissioning Groups s are:  

 
• Hindered from taking a holistic and integrated approach to improving 

healthcare for their local populations, due to their lack of say over the 

commissioning of both primary care and some specialised services  

• Unable to unlock the full potential of their statutory duty to help improve the 

quality of general practice for patients 

 

At the same time, individual GPs will also be conflicted in specific decisions about 

primary care commissioning.  So, in order to harness the benefits of co-

commissioning, yet guard fully against the risks, robust new and transparent 

arrangements for managing perceived and actual conflicts of interest have been 

developed.  

 

11.0 Ethical considerations:  

 

None 

  

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 

 

12.1 

 

Full consultation with all GP practices has taken place.  The overwhelming majority of 

practices voted to support full delegated arrangements.   

 

13.0 Background papers: - 

 

13.1 

 

Next Steps NHS England paper 

http://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-

content/uploads/sites/12/2014/11/nxt-steps-pc-cocomms.pdf 

 

Conflict of Interest paper  

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/man-confl-int-guid-

1214.pdf 

Page 70



 

RCGP Risks and opportunities paper  

http://www.gpcwm.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/06/NHSCC_RCGP-Risks-and-

opportunities-for-CCGs-in-primary-care-commissioning-1-Dec-2014.pdf 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer:  Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health, Blackpool Council 

Relevant Cabinet Member: 

 

Councillor Eddie Collett, Cabinet Member for Public Health 

Date of Meeting : 

 

28
th

 January 2015 

 

DELIVERY OF AFFORDABLE WARMTH INITIATIVES ACROSS 

BLACKPOOL AND THE WIDER LANCASHIRE FOOTPRINT  
 

1.0 

 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1.1 To provide information on the current delivery of Affordable Warmth initiatives across 

Lancashire and to provide an overview of the planned changes that are currently in 

development. The changes aim to maximise the opportunities available to Blackpool and 

the other Lancashire authorities. 

 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 

 

2.1 To note the report and discuss the opportunities arising from the changes. 

 

3.0 

 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

 

3.1  

 

A study jointly funded by the Lancashire Directors of Public Health, was 

commissioned to investigate the most effective way to both access national grants 

and maximise delivery for Affordable Warmth initiatives across Lancashire.  

 

The report recommended that the county wide Local Authorities (district, upper tier 

and unitary) could maximise their opportunities by developing an alternative model 

that could deliver across the whole county, in a more equitable and efficient manner, 

than each individual authority is able to achieve on its own.  

 

This development process has the support of the Lancashire Chief Executives and 

Chief Financial Officers and is being led by Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health 

for Blackpool.  

 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 

approved by the Council? 

 

 

Yes 

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 

budget? 

 

No 

3.3 

 

Other alternative options to be considered: 

 None  

 

4.0 Council Priority: 

 

4.1 The relevant Council Priorities are  

 

• Tackle child poverty, raise aspirations and improve educational achievement  

• Safeguard and protect the most vulnerable  

• Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged  

• Attract sustainable investment and create quality jobs  

• Improve housing standards and the environment we live in by using housing 

investment to create stable communities   

 

5.0 Background Information 

 

5.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2 

 

 

 

 

5.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The population of Blackpool experiences on average poorer health and lower life 

expectancy than the majority of the UK. Certain health conditions are exacerbated by 

the cold and environmental factors including cold damp housing, and these 

contribute to excess winter deaths and high levels of unscheduled hospital 

admissions. There is also evidence to suggest that living in a cold home can result in 

poor mental health as well as lower educational attainment.  

 

Blackpool has one of the highest levels of fuel poverty in England and a greater 

percentage of hard to treat houses than other areas. Hard to treat houses are those 

without a cavity wall or with a roof lift into the attic and therefore require expensive 

solid wall insulation.  

 

Against this background the NHS and Local Authority have consistently provided 

financial support to initiates aimed at improving the housing conditions of the most 

vulnerable, particularly those at risk of hospital admission or to facilitate safe hospital 

discharge. In particular, to make thermal improvements and heating for properties 

that otherwise would not be able to have the measures installed because of the 

funding from the energy companies, not covering the cost of the expensive measures 

or the inability of the vulnerable householder to access the complex grant funding, 

that is available. 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



5.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.5 

 

 

 

 

5.6 

 

 

 

 

 

5.7 

 

 

 

5.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.9 

 

 

 

 

5.10 

 

 

Initiatives have included grants towards measures in individual homes, for example 

where a national grant for a heating system could not be accessed because of lead 

pipes. Also strategic initiatives, where whole streets of hard to treat properties have 

been organised into an offer to an energy company, to provide expensive solid wall 

insulation to the whole area, with a secondary outcome of improving the appearance 

of the street. 

 

The increasingly volatile nature of the Energy Efficiency market has resulted in 

delivery being driven by commercial considerations rather than the need to ensure 

that the homes of the most vulnerable are as warm and energy efficient as possible, 

so that the occupants avoid the health risks associated with living in a cold home.   

 

The Lancashire authorities, including Blackpool, have historically worked informally 

together to deliver measures across the county, however the increasing complexity 

and commercial nature of the market meant that a more formal arrangement 

needed to be developed in order that Blackpool can benefit fully from the current 

and future Central Government schemes.  

 

Energy companies currently control the limited funding streams available for thermal 

improvements and Blackpool on its own cannot compete with areas such as Greater 

Manchester and Birmingham to attract those funds.  

 

There are considerable potential employment opportunities from ensuring that 

energy efficiency measures are delivered by companies recruiting people from the 

Fylde Coast and Lancashire. Making the most of the national grants available and 

bringing control of the implementation of those grants to Lancashire should make it 

possible to obtain additional social value from the work. So that local people benefit 

from both having a warmer home, that’s affordable to heat and also employment. 

  

The report commissioned by the Directors of Public Health recommended a formal 

structure be established between the Local Authorities. A number of options were 

explored and these are currently being discussed by the Chief Financial Officers to 

determine the best fit for Lancashire. 

 

A Steering Group will be established to oversee the implementation of the new 

model. 

 

5.11 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 

No 

5.12        List of Appendices: 

 

                None 

 

 

Page 75



   

  

 

 

 

 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 

 

6.1 Still to be determined depending on the model chosen. 

 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 

 

7.1 

 

Still to be determined depending on the model chosen.  

8.0 Equalities considerations: 

 

8.1 

 

An equitable and robust delivery model will reduce health inequalities of 

marginalised groups, the elderly and people with a disability. 

 

9.0 

 

9.1 

Financial considerations: 

 

A full financial analysis and assessment is being carried out by the Chief Financial 

Officers across Lancashire. 

 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 

 

10.1 Still to be determined depending on the model chosen. 

 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 

11.1 

 

 

The new delivery model will support local business and employment in the delivery 

of Energy Efficiency measures 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 

 

12.1 

 

Consultation undertaken as part of the commissioned report 

 

  

  

 

  

 

Page 76



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Delyth Curtis, Director of People, Blackpool Council 

Relevant Cabinet Member Councillor Ivan Taylor, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 

Date of Meeting: 28
th

 January 2015 

 

CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL REPORT 2013/2014 
 

1.0 

 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1.1 The Child Death Overview Panel has a responsibility to review the deaths of children 

and young people resident within the three local authority areas with the aim of 

identify themes, trends and recommendations in an attempt to prevent future child 

deaths. This is their annual report for 2013/2014. 

 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 

 

2.1 To note the information contained within this report and ask for further clarification 

from the Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board with regards to the 

recommendations in the report and how they are to be implemented. 
  

3.0 

 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 

 

This is the fifth annual report since Child Death Overview Panels (CDOP) became 

statutory in April 2008 and the second as a pan-Lancashire Panel. The pan- 

Lancashire Child Death Overview Panel is a sub-group of the three Local Safeguarding 

Children Boards (LSCBs) and has a statutory responsibility to review the deaths of all 

children up to the age of 18 years old (excluding infants live-born following planned, 

legal terminations of pregnancy) resident within the three Local Authority areas.  

This report will provide information on trends and patterns in the deaths reviewed 

during the last reporting year (2013-2014), on all deaths reviewed since the panels 

began in April 2008 and make recommendations to the Local Safeguarding Children 

Boards or other relevant bodies (e.g. Health and Wellbeing Boards) based on the 

analysis. 

 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 

approved by the Council? 

 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 

budget? 

Yes 

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



 

3.3 

 

Other alternative options to be considered: 

 

 None, the Board should consider the report of the Panel.  

 

4.0 Council Priority: 

 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is: 

 

• Safeguard and protect the most vulnerable  

• Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged  

 

5.0 Background Information 

 

5.1 

 

 

 

5.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is a multi-agency group responsible for 

reviewing all child deaths occurring within Lancashire, Blackburn with Darwen and 

Blackpool. The Panel is a sub group of the three Local Safeguarding Children Boards. 

The deaths of all live-born children 0-18 (excluding infants live-born following 

planned, legal terminations of pregnancy or still births), are reviewed by the Child 

Death Overview Panel in line with Working Together to Safeguard Children (2013). 

This report will provide information in relation to trends and patterns from deaths 

reviewed and identify recommendations for the Local Safeguarding Children Board or 

other relevant bodies to prevent future child deaths where possible. 

5.3 Key points to note are: 

From April 2008 – March 2014 the Panel has completed 770 child death reviews 

consisting of 68 Blackpool, 121 Blackburn with Darwen and 578 Lancashire. Of these 

deaths: 

· 23% of pan-Lancashire deaths had modifiable factors (24% Lancashire, 17% 

Blackburn with Darwen, 25% Blackpool and 22% national) 

· Nationally 72% of cases are completed within 12 months; 80% of pan-

Lancashire deaths have been completed within 12 months of the deaths 

occurring between April 2008 and March 2014 (79% Lancashire, 88% 

Blackburn with Darwen and 72% Blackpool) 

· 63% of pan-Lancashire deaths reviewed are of children under 1 year of age 

(62% Lancashire, 66% Blackburn with Darwen and 63% Blackpool) this is 

slightly below the national figure of 66% · 59% of pan-Lancashire deaths were 

of male children and young people (56% national, 60% Lancashire, 59% 

Blackburn with Darwen, and 47% Blackpool) 

· The largest categories of pan-Lancashire child deaths are perinatal/ neonatal 

event (34.2%), chromosomal, congenital and genetic abnormalities (24.5%) 

and sudden unexpected, unexplained deaths (8.7%)  

 

Page 78



· Sudden unexpected, unexplained deaths are particularly noticeable in 

children aged 28-364 days old. Examples of modifiable factors in this category 

relate to safer sleep. 

· The largest category of death with modifiable factors in Blackpool is sudden 

unexpected, unexplained deaths (41%), perinatal/ neonatal event in 

Blackburn with Darwen (48%) and perinatal/ neonatal event Lancashire (23 %)  

· The categories of death with the largest proportion of modifiable factors 

(pan-Lancashire) were Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect (89%), 

Trauma and other external factors (63%), Suicide or deliberate self-inflicted 

harm (52%), and Sudden unexpected, unexplained death (52%)  

· The most common risk factors identified from the pan-Lancashire cases 

identified to have modifiable factors are: 

1. 35% service provision (including access to health care, prior 

medical intervention e.g. misdiagnosis or missed testing etc , 

communication e.g. cross boundary issues, interagency 

communication or internal issues and/or access to other services 

e.g. housing) 

2. 31% smoking (includes smoking in pregnancy and in the household 

by parent or carer)  

3. 31% alcohol/ substance misuse by parent, carer and/ or child  

 

5.4 Recommendations 

· Health visiting providers (Lancashire Care Foundation Trust and Blackpool, 

Fylde and Wyre Hospitals Trusts) to provide assurances to their Local 

Safeguarding Children Board that safer sleep information is discussed with 

parents/ carers at the antenatal and primary contacts 

· Given the frequency in the numbers of deaths caused as a result of own 

actions, the Health and Wellbeing Boards should assure themselves that there 

is evidence-based and effective early intervention/ preventive work for 

emotional health and wellbeing for children and young people  

· Public Health teams to develop a set of recommendations based on more 

detailed analysis of historical data collected by Child Death Overview Panel 

(including the modifiable factors identified by CDOP) and any other relevant 

sources.  

· The Local Safeguarding Children Boards and Health and Wellbeing Boards 

should seek assurances that there is effective interagency working to address 

the misuse of alcohol and substances and smoking cessation. 

 

5.5 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 

No 

 

Page 79



 

5.6 List of Appendices:  

  

Appendix 7a: Annual Report Executive Summary  

 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 

 

6.1 

 

None 

 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 

 

7.1 

 

None 

 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 

 

8.1 

 

None 

 

9.0 Financial considerations: 

 

9.1 

 

None 

 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 

 

10.1 None 

 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 

11.1 

 

None 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 

 

12.1 

 

None  

 

13.0 Background papers: 

 

13.1 

 

None 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



 
 
 
Report from: Pan – Lancashire CDOP  Date:  August  2014 

 
Subject:  Pan – Lancashire Child Death Overview Panel Annual Report  
 
Purpose:  for information, discussion and decision  

 
Summary:  
 
The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is a multi agency group responsible for reviewing all 
child deaths occurring within Lancashire, Blackburn with Darwen and Blackpool. The Panel is a 
sub group of the three Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs). 
 
The deaths of all live-born children 0-18 (excluding infants live-born following  planned, legal 
terminations of pregnancy or still births), are reviewed by the Child Death Overview Panel in line 
with Working Together to Safeguard Children (2013). This report will provide information in 
relation to trends and patterns from deaths reviewed and identify recommendations for the 
LSCBs or other relevant bodies to prevent future child deaths where possible. 
 
Key points to note are: 
 
From April 2008 – March 2014 the CDOP has completed 770 child death reviews consisting of 
68 Blackpool, 121 Blackburn with Darwen and 578 Lancashire. Of these deaths: 
 

• 23% of pan-Lancashire deaths had modifiable factors (24% Lancashire, 17% Blackburn 
with Darwen, 25% Blackpool and 22% national) 

• Nationally 72% of cases are completed within 12 months; 80% of pan-Lancashire deaths 
have been completed within 12 months of the deaths occurring between April 2008 and 
March 2014 (79% Lancashire, 88% Blackburn with Darwen and 72% Blackpool) 

• 63% of pan-Lancashire deaths reviewed are of children under 1 year of age (62% 
Lancashire, 66% Blackburn with Darwen and 63% Blackpool) this is slightly below the 
national figure of 66% 

• 59% of pan-Lancashire deaths were of male children and young people (56% national, 
60% Lancashire, 59% Blackburn with Darwen, and 47% Blackpool) 

• The largest categories of pan-Lancashire child deaths are perinatal/ neonatal event 
(34.2%), chromosomal, congenital and genetic abnormalities (24.5%) and sudden 
unexpected, unexplained deaths (8.7%) 

• Sudden unexpected, unexplained deaths are particularly noticeable in children aged 28- 
364 days old. Examples of modifiable factors in this category relate to safer sleep. 

• The largest category of death with modifiable factors in Blackpool is sudden unexpected, 
unexplained deaths (41%), perinatal/ neonatal event in Blackburn with Darwen (48%) 
and perinatal/ neonatal event Lancashire (23 %) 

• The categories of death with the largest proportion of modifiable factors (pan-Lancashire) 
were Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect (89%), Trauma and other external 
factors (63%), Suicide or deliberate self-inflicted harm (52%), and Sudden unexpected, 
unexplained death (52%) 

• The most common risk factors identified from the pan-Lancashire cases identified to 

Page 81



 

have modifiable factors are: 
 

1. 35% service provision (including access to health care, prior medical intervention 
e.g. misdiagnosis or missed testing etc , communication e.g. cross boundary 
issues, interagency communication or internal issues and/or access to other 
services e.g. housing) 

2. 31% smoking (includes smoking in pregnancy and in the household by parent or 
carer) 

3. 31% alcohol/ substance misuse by parent, carer and/ or child 
 
Recommendations  
 

• Health visiting providers (Lancashire Care Foundation Trust and Blackpool, Fylde and 
Wyre Hospitals Trusts) to provide assurances to their LSCB that safer sleep information 
is discussed with parents/ carers at the antenatal and primary contacts 

• Given the frequency in the numbers of deaths caused as a result of own actions, the 
Health and Wellbeing Boards should assure themselves that there is evidence-based 
and effective early intervention/ preventive work for emotional health and wellbeing for 
children and young people  

• Public Health teams to develop a set of recommendations based on more detailed 
analysis of historical data collected by CDOP (including the modifiable factors identified 
by CDOP) and any other relevant sources. 

• The LSCBs & Health and Wellbeing Boards should seek assurances that there is 
effective interagency working to address the misuse of alcohol and substances and 
smoking cessation 

 
 

Page 82



 
Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  

 

Relevant Officer:    

 

Andy Roach, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group 

Relevant Cabinet Member  

 

Councillor Eddie Collett, Cabinet Member for Public Health 

Date of Meeting:  28
th

 January 2015 

 

BETTER CARE FUND SUBMISSION 
 

1.0 

 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1.1 To provide assurance that the Better Care Fund Plan has been approved by NHS 

England following submission of the action plan. 

 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 

 

2.1 To note the approval of the revised Better Care Fund submission. 
 

3.0 

 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 

 

The Board has a key role in monitoring the submission of the revised Better Care 

Fund.  

 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 

approved by the Council? 

 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 

budget? 

 

Yes 

3.3 

 

Other alternative options to be considered: 

 

 None - the item is for information to update the Board as to the Better Care Fund’s progress.  

 

4.0 Council Priority: 

 

4.1 The relevant Council Priorities are:   

 

• Safeguard and protect the most vulnerable  

• Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged  

 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



5.0 Background Information 

 

5.1 

 

 

 

 

5.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The £3.8bn Better Care Fund (BCF) was announced in the Government’s June 2013 

spending review. The key ambition of the Fund seeks to transform local services to 

ensure people are provided with better integrated care and support – which is 

joined-up, personalised and provided closer to home.  

 

In order to access the Better Care Fund, every local area developed a locality plan 

aligned to the two-year operational and five year strategic plans of their Clinical 

Commissioning Group. Plans must also meet certain national conditions including a 

commitment to seven day working, better sharing of information and protection of 

social care services. Draft and final plans were approved by Health and Wellbeing 

Boards in February and April 2014 respectively before being take forward for 

ministerial sign off.  

 

Following a ministerial review in April it was recognised that whilst many plans 

reflected the ambition of the Fund, certain aspects required further development as 

follows:  

• More evidence of financial risk and performance metrics;  

• Sufficient provider engagement and agreement on the impact of plans;  

• Greater  clarity around the alignment of the Better Care Fund plan to wider 

plans and policies, such as  how Better Care Fund schemes will align with 

and work alongside primary care;  

• More evidence of robust finance and analytical modelling underpinning 

plans.  

 

5.4 

 

To address these requirements, NHS England published updated guidance, revised 

plan templates and extended the timetable for revising and submitting locality plans.  

 

5.5 

 

Further to the previous update in December 2014, the final submission and 

supporting action plan was formally approved on 19
th

 December 2014 (letter 

attached). 

 

5.6 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 

No 

5.7 List of Appendices:  

  

Appendix 8a: Approved Letter 

 

Appendix 8b: Better Care Fund Executive Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84



6.0 Legal considerations: 

 

6.1 

 

None 

 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 

 

7.1 

 

None  

 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 

 

8.1 

 

None  

 

9.0 Financial considerations: 

 

9.1 

 

None  

 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 

 

10.1 None 

 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 

11.1 

 

None  

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 

 

12.1 

 

None 

 

13.0 Background papers: 

 

13.1 

 

Better Care Fund Plan 

 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



High quality care for all, now and for future generations 
 

 

 

Dear Colleague 

 

Thank you for submitting further evidence to move your Better Care Fund plan to 
a fully approved status. We know that the BCF is an ambitious programme and 
preparing the plans at pace has proved an immensely challenging task. However, 
your plan is now part of an ongoing process to transform local services and 
improve the lives of people in your community.  
 
It is clear that your team and partners have worked very hard over the last year, 
making valuable changes to your plan in order to improve people’s care.  
 
NHS England is now able to formally approve plans following the publication of 
the 2015/16 Mandate. I am delighted to let you know that, following the 
subsequent Nationally Consistent Assurance Review (NCAR) process, your plan 
has been classified as ‘Approved’. Essentially, your plan is clear and ambitious 
and we support your ambitions. This puts you in a strong position for delivering 
the change outlined above.  
 
Your BCF funding will be made available to you subject to the following standard 
conditions which apply to all BCF plans: 
 

 The Fund being used in accordance with your final approved plan and 
through a section 75 pooled fund agreement; 

 The full value of the element of the Fund linked to non-elective admissions 
reduction target will be paid over to CCGs at the start of the financial year. 
However, CCGs may only release the full value of this funding into the 
pool if the admissions reduction target is met as detailed in the BCF 
Technical Guidance

1
.  If the target is not met, the CCG(s) may only 

release into the pool a part of that funding proportionate to the partial 
achievement of the target.  Any part of this funding that is not released 
into the pool due to the target not being met must be dealt with in 
accordance with NHS England requirements.  Full details are set out in 
the BCF Technical Guidance 

 

Publications Gateway Ref. No. 02396 Quarry House 
Quarry Hill 

Leeds  
LS2 7UE 

 
E-mail: england.coo@nhs.net  

To: 
Cllr S Blackburn – Chair of Blackpool HWB 
 
CC: Dr C A Doyle – Chief Clinical Officer, 
BlackpoolCCG 
Copy to: 
Mr N Jack – Blackpool Council 

 
 
 
 

19 December 2014 

Page 87

mailto:england.coo@nhs.net


High quality care for all, now and for future generations 
 

The conditions are being imposed through NHS England’s powers under 
sections 223G and 223GA of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Care Act 
2014). These allow NHS England to make payment of the BCF allocation subject 
to conditions.  If the conditions are not complied with, NHS England is able to 
withhold or recover funding, or direct the CCG that it be spent in a particular way. 
 
We are confident that there are no areas of high risk in your plan and as such 
you should progress with your plans for implementation.  
 
Any ongoing support and oversight with your BCF plan will be led by your NHS 
England Regional/Area Team along with your Local Government Regional peer 
rather than the BCF Taskforce from this point onwards. 
 
Non-elective (general and acute) admissions reductions ambition 
 
We recognise that some areas may want to revisit their ambitions for the level of 
reduction of non-elective admissions, in light of their experience of actual 
performance over the winter, and as they become more confident of the 2014/15 
outturn, and firm-up their plans to inform the 2015/16 contracting round. Any 
such review should include appropriate involvement from local authorities and be 
approved by HWBs. NHS England will assess the extent to which any proposed 
change has been locally agreed in line with BCF requirements, as well as the risk 
to delivery of the ambition, as part of its assurance of CCGs’ operational plans. 
 
Once again, thank you for your work and we look forward to the next stage. 
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
Dame Barbara Hakin 
National Director: Commissioning Operations  
NHS England 
  
1
 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/bcf-technical-guidance-v2.pdf 

Page 88

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/bcf-technical-guidance-v2.pdf


 

 
 

Blackpool CCG Governing Body – Part I 
 

 

1 

 

13 January 2015 

 

Better Care Fund Plan 

 

Executive Summary 
 

Introduction 

 

This report is to provide an update on the revised submission of the Better Care Fund and Action Plan 

developed following the National Consistent Assurance Review. 

 

The report also provides assurance to the Governing Body that the Better Care Fund Plan has been 

approved following submission of the Action Plan. 

 

Background Information 

 

1. The £3.8bn Better Care Fund (BCF) was announced in the June 2013 spending review.  The key 

ambition of the Fund seeks to transform local services to ensure people are provided with better 

integrated care and support – which is joined-up, personalised and provided closer to home. 

 

2. In order to access the Better Care Fund, every local area developed a locality plan aligned to the 

two-year operational and five year strategic plans or their Clinical Commissioning Group.  Plans 

must also meet certain national conditions including a commitment to seven day working, better 

sharing of information and protection of social care services.  Draft and final plans were 

approved by Health and Wellbeing Boards in February and April 2014 respectively before being 

taken forward for ministerial sign off. 

 

3. Following a ministerial review in April 2014, it was recognised that whilst many plans reflected 

the ambition of the Fund, certain aspects required further development as follows: 

 

• More evidence of financial risk and performance metrics 

• Sufficient provider engagement and agreement on the impact of plans 

• Greater clarity around the alignment of the Better Care Fund plan to wider plans and policies, 

such as how Better Care Fund schemes will align with and work alongside primary care 

• More evidence of robust finance and analytical modelling underpinning plans. 

 

4. To address these requirements, NHS England published updated guidance, revised plan 

templates and extended the timetable for revising and submitting locality plans. 

Page 89



 

 
 

Blackpool CCG Governing Body – Part I 
 

 

2 

 

 

5. Further to the previous updates to the Governing Body, the final submission and supporting 

Action Plan was submitted to NHSE in November following the National Consistent Assurance 

Review. 

 

6. Formal confirmation was received on 19 December 2014 by Dame Barbara Hakin confirming 

that the Blackpool BCF Plan was fully approved. 

 

Recommendation 

 

Members of the Governing Body are asked to note the assurance that the Better Care Fund Plan has 

been approved following submission of the Action Plan. 

 

 

Andy Roach 

Director of Integration and Transformation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 90


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 3rd December 2014
	3 STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING GROUP UPDATE
	4 WINTERBOURNE VIEW CONCORDAT UPDATE
	Winterbourne Appendix
	Foreword 
	Executive summary 
	About this report 
	The problem we
are confronting
		Where we are now
		Where we need to get to 
		Why has there not been more progress? 

	Recommendations
		Strengthening rights 
		Forcing the pace on commissioning 
		Closures
		Building capacity in the community
		Holding people to account

	Appendix 1
Membership of the€steering group 
	Appendix 2
‘We have the right’ statement 
	Appendix 3
Challenging Behaviour National Strategy Group€Charter
	Appendix 4
Summary of Recommended Social Investment Structures from Winterbourne View€and Social Investment (2014) 
		‘Payment for Outcomes’ Fund



	5 NEXT STEPS TO PRIMARY CARE CO-COMMISSIONING
	6 Delivery of Affordable Warmth Initiatives across Blackpool and the wider Lancashire footprint
	7 CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL REPORT 2013/2014
	CDOP Executive Summary

	8 BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE
	Appendix 8a Approved letter (for areas previously approved with support) CL   - Blackpool
	Appendix 8b Better Care Fund Summary


